Mount Saint Vincent University Department of Applied Human Nutrition

Effect of Sugars in Solution on Subjective Appetite and Short-term Food Intake Regulation in Normal Weight 9- to 14-year-old Boys

by Marissa Van Engelen

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Applied Human Nutrition

> 2012 Halifax, Nova Scotia

© Marissa Van Engelen

Mount Saint Vincent University Department of Applied Human Nutrition

Effect of Sugars in Solution on Subjective Appetite and Short-term Food Intake Regulation in Normal Weight 9- to 14-year-old Boys

by

Marissa Van Engelen

Approved:

Dr. Nick Bellissimo, PhD Thesis Supervisor Assistant Professor of Nutrition Ryerson University

Dr. Misty Rossiter, PhD, PDt Assistant Professor of Applied Human Nutrition Mount Saint Vincent University

Dr. Michelle Eskritt, PhD Associate Professor of Psychology Mount Saint Vincent University

Effect of Sugars in Solution on Subjective Appetite and Short-term Food Intake Regulation in Normal Weight 9- to 14-year-old Boys

Marissa Van Engelen Master of Science, 2012 Department of Applied Human Nutrition Mount Saint Vincent University

ABSTRACT

To examine the hypothesis that the physiologic regulation of short-term food intake (FI) in boys is affected by sugars source, the following study was conducted. The objective was to describe the effect of consuming 200 kcal of glucose, high-fructose corn syrup-55 (HFCS-55) and sucrose 60 min before a pizza meal on subjective appetite and short-term FI regulation compared to a Sucralose® control. On four separate mornings, fifteen normal weight (NW) boys received in random order one of the four equally sweetened sugars solutions 2 h after consuming a standardized breakfast. Food intake at an ad libitum pizza meal was measured 60 min after each treatment. Subjective appetite was measured at 15 min time intervals until the test lunch and immediately after. Only glucose resulted in a statistically significant decrease in FI (975 kcal \pm 58) compared to the Sucralose control solution (P < 0.01). Mean FI after sucrose and HFCS-55 were not statistically different. Caloric compensation, a measure of FI regulation, after the glucose, sucrose and HFCS-55 solutions were scored 76%, 26% and 26%, respectively, but did not differ (P=0.07). Average appetite (AA) was higher after the HFCS-55 solution compared to glucose (P<0.05). Change from baseline AA scores following sucrose were significantly higher compared to the other three treatments (P<0.01), which suggest that hunger returned more quickly after sucrose. The energy content of the preloads, expressed as per kcal/kg body weight (BW), inversely associated with FI after sucrose and HFCS-55 (P<0.05), but not after glucose (P=0.09), suggesting dose was less of a factor after glucose compared to after sucrose and HFCS-55. Fat-mass (FM) positively correlating with FI after the control, sucrose and HFCS-55 solutions (P < 0.05) suggests body composition is also a factor of FI regulation. In summary, only glucose suppressed FI at a test meal 60 min later, as a result of greater physiological effects on FI compared to isovolumetric and isocaloric solutions of sucrose and HFCS-55. In conclusion, the short-term regulation of FI in NW 9- to 14-year-old boys was affected by sugars source, treatment dose and body composition.

In Loving Memory of

Adrian Van Engelen

FOREVER IN OUR HEARTS

1953 - 2012

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank Dr. Nick Bellissimo for his ongoing guidance. Dr. Bellissimo has made me a stronger and more confident person, and for that I am thankful. I would also like to extend my gratitude to my committee members, Dr. Misty Rossiter and Dr. Michelle Eskritt. Thank you for agreeing to support me throughout this journey.

Thanks to all my friends and colleagues for always being there. To Lorianne and Kelly – who were always one step ahead – thank you for your advice and for allowing me to shadow your work. To my lab mates – thanks for all your hard work and for helping move my project forward. To Alyson, Tracey, Anika and Lindsay – my beautiful friends – thank you for your endless inspiration, laughter and friendship.

Ed, thank you for always believing in me. You have always reminded me to keep my head up and reach for the stars, and for that I am forever grateful.

To my loving parents, brothers and sisters – who always have bigger dreams for me than I could possibly have for myself – thank you for your love and support. To my godchildren – Madan, Julia and Shyla – as well as all of my other nieces and nephews, thank you for continuously reminding me of the simple joys in life and always bringing a smile to my face. Every day I feel so blessed to have you as my family. I love you all.

Lastly, I would like to dedicate this thesis to my father, the late Adrian Van Engelen. Dad, thank you for teaching me the richness of dedication and perseverance, and that attitude is altitude. I would not be the person I am today if it was not for your endless pep talks, love and encouragement. I owe you the world.

LIS	T OF T	CABLES	ix
LIS	T OF F	IGURES	X
LIS	T OF A	ABBREVIATIONS	xi
Cha	pter 1	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1.	Genera	al Introduction	2
Cha	pter 2	LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1.	Introd	uction	5
2.2.	Childh	nood Obesity	5
	2.2.1.	Diagnosis	5
	2.2.2.	Prevalence	6
	2.2.3.	Consequences	6
	2.2.4.	Causes	7
2.3.	Sugars	s Intake and Obesity	9
2.4.	Food I	ntake Regulation	15
	2.4.1.	Macronutrients and Short-term Food Intake	16
		2.4.1.1. Carbohydrate-induced Suppression of Short-term Food Intake	17
		2.4.1.2. Fat-induced Suppression of Short-term Food Intake	19
		2.4.1.3. Protein-induced Suppression of Short-term Food Intake	21
	2.4.2.	Sweetness and Short-term Food Intake	22
	2.4.3.	Food Variety in a Meal and Short-term Food Intake	23
	2.4.5.	Time to Next Meal and Short-term Food Intake	24
2.5.	Physiological Control of Food Intake		24
	2.5.1.	Long-term Regulators of Food Intake and Energy Balance	25
	2.5.2.	Short-term Regulators of Food Intake and Energy Balance	27
		2.5.2.1. Glucagon-like Peptide-1	27
		2.5.2.2. Glucose-dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide	28
		2.5.2.3. Cholecystokinin	28
	2.5.3.	Carbohydrate-induced Satiety	28
		2.5.3.1. Blood Glucose as a Potential Mechanism of Carbohydrate-induced Satis	ety 29

Table of Contents

	2.5.3.2. Incretin Hormones as a Potential Mechanism of Carbohydrate-induced	
	Satiety	30
2.5.4.	Fat-induced Satiety	32
2.5.5.	Protein-induced Satiety	32
2.6. Measures of Satiety, Appetite and Body Composition in Children		
2.6.1.	Hunger, Satiation and Satiety	33
	2.6.1.1. Visual Analogue Scales to Measure Subjective Appetite	34
2.6.2.	Preload Design as Measure of Food Intake Regulation	35
2.6.3.	Measurement of Body Composition	36
	2.6.3.1. Skinfold Thickness	36
	2.6.3.2. Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry	37
	2.6.3.3. Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis	37
2.6.4.	Dietary Cognitive Restrained, Emotional and External Eating Behaviours	38
2.7. Summ	nary	39
Chapter 3	HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVE	41
3.1 Hypot	hesis	42
3.2 Objective		
Chapter 4 METHODS		
4.1. Overview of Research Design		
4.2. Subjects		
4.3. Experimental Procedure		
4.4. Materials and Methods		
4.4.1.	Test Meal	47
4.4.2.	Treatment Solutions	50
4.4.3.	Motivation to Eat Visual Analogue Scales	50
4.4.4.	Subjective Physical Comfort	51
4.4.5.	Sweetness and Pleasantness of Sugars Solutions	51
4.4.6.	Pleasantness of the Test Meal	52
4.4.7.	Estimation of Body Composition	52
4.4.8.	Determination of Dietary Cognitive Restrained, Emotional and External Eating	
Behav	viours	52

4.5. Ethical Considerations	53	
4.6. Data Analysis	54	
Chapter 5 RESULTS		
5.1. Subject Characteristics	57	
5.2. Food Intake	59	
5.3. Caloric Compensation	59	
5.4. Water Intake	59	
5.5. Sweetness of Sugars Solutions	59	
5.6. Pleasantness of Sugars Solutions	59	
5.7. Physical Comfort	60	
5.8. Motivation to Eat Visual Analogue Scales	62	
5.8.1. Average Appetite	62	
5.8.2. Desire to Eat	62	
5.8.3. Hunger	62	
5.8.4. Fullness	63	
5.8.5. Prospective Food Consumption	63	
5.8.6. Thirst	63	
5.9. Associations With Food Intake	67	
5.9.1. Body Composition	67	
5.9.2. Preload Kcal per Kilogram Body Weight	69	
5.9.3. Average Appetite	71	
5.9.4. Sweetness and Pleasantness of the Sugars Solutions	73	
5.10. Subject Characteristics by BMI Percentile	75	
5.11. Food Intake by BMI Percentile	77	
5.12. Caloric Compensation by BMI Percentile	77	
5.13. Water Intake by BMI Percentile	77	
5.14. Sweetness of Sugars Solutions by BMI Percentie	77	
5.15. Motivation to Eat Visual Analogue Scales by BMI Percentile	79	
5.15.1. Average Appetite		
5.15.2. Desire to Eat	79	
5.15.3. Hunger	79	

5.15.4. Fullness	80
5.15.5. Prospective Food Consumption	
5.15.6. Thirst	
Chapter 6 DISCUSSION	
6.1. General Discussion	
6.2. Conclusion	90
6.3. Methods and Limitations	90
6.4. Future Directions	91
Chapter 7 REFERENCES	
Chapter 8 APPENDIX	
Appendix 8.1. Recruitment Letter for Parents	110
Appendix 8.2. Telephone Screening Questionnaire	111
Appendix 8.3. Parental Consent Form	
Appendix 8.4. Children's Assent Form	117
Appendix 8.5. Screening Information Form	
Appendix 8.6. Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire	
Appendix 8.7. Feeding Session Cover Sheet	
Appendix 8.8. Study Day Test Package	
Appendix 8.8.1. Motivation to Eat Visual Analogue Scale	
Appendix 8.8.2. Physical Comfort Visual Analogue Scale	
Appendix 8.8.3. Sweetness Visual Analogue Scale	
Appendix 8.8.4. Preload Pleasantness Visual Analogue Scale	
Appendix 8.8.5. Test Meal Pleasantness Visual Analogue Scale	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1	Nutrient Composition of Test Meal	49
Table 5.1	Baseline Characteristics for Test Subjects	58
Table 5.2	Effect of Sugars Solutions on Food and Water Intake, Sweetness, Preload	
	Pleasantness, Physical Comfort and Caloric Compensation in Normal	
	Weight Boys	61
Table 5.3	Associations Between Body Composition, Food Intake and Caloric	
	Compensation	68
Table 5.4	Associations Between Absolute Average Appetite and Food Intake	72
Table 5.5	Associations Between Sweetness and Pleasantness with Food Intake at the Tes	st
	Meal	74
Table 5.6	Baseline Characteristics for Test Subjects by BMI Percentile	76
Table 5.7	Effect of Sugars Solutions on Food and Water Intake, Sweetness and Caloric	
	Compensation in Normal Weight Boys by BMI Percentile	78

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 5.1 S	Subjective Average Appetite 60 Min After Sugars-containing Solutions	65
Figure 5.2 (Change from Baseline Subjective Average Appetite 60 Min After Sugars	
·	Solutions	66
Figure 5.3 A	Association Between Preload Kcal per Kilogram Body Weight and Food	
]	Intake	70
Figure 5.4 (Change from Baseline Subjective Average Appetite 60 Min After Sugars	
S	Solutions by BMI Percentile	81

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Α	
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
AA	Average Appetite
В	
BG	Blood glucose
BIA	Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis
BMI	Body Mass Index
BW	Body Weight
С	
CCHS	Canadian Community Health Survey
CCK	Cholecystokinin
CNS	Central Nervous System
D	
DEBQ	Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire
DTE	Desire to Eat
DXA	Dual X-ray Absorptiometry
F	
FFM	Fat-free Mass
FI	Food Intake
FM	Fat Mass
G	
GIP	Glucose-dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide
GLP-1	Glucagon-like Peptide-1
Н	
Н	Hour(s)
HFCS	High Fructose Corn Syrup

Μ	
Min	Minute
Ν	
NW	Normal Weight
0	
OB	Obese
OW	Overweight
Р	
PFC	Prospective Food Consumption
S	
SEM	Standard Error of Mean
SSB	Sugar-sweetened Beverage
U	
USA	United States
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
V	
VAS	Visual Analogue Scale

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1. General Introduction

Obesity among children and adolescents is a rapidly growing public health concern with the majority of obese (OB) children becoming OB adults (1). In Canada, the prevalence of overweight (OW) and obesity has increased over the past few decades. Between 1978/1979 and 2004, the combined prevalence of OW and obesity doubled among Canadian youth aged 6- to 17-years-old (2). Obesity is associated with an increased risk of chronic disease, as well as psychological and social consequences (3), which add to the health care burden of an unhealthy population. Developing appropriate obesity prevention strategies is of high priority to mitigate the consequences of obesity in childhood and adolescence.

The consumption of sugars in beverages has been blamed for the childhood obesity epidemic as a positive association between sugar-sweetened beverage consumption (SSB) and BW has been noted (4-6). It has been hypothesized that sugars bypass regulatory mechanisms of FI (7), therefore leading to overeating (8) and, subsequently, the development of OW and obesity (5, 9). However, this hypothesis is not supported by known mechanisms of physiological food intake regulation (10). Furthermore, little experimental evidence exists investigating the role of sugars in solution in regulating appetite and FI. There are only a handful of short-term studies published looking at the effect of sugars source on FI in adults (11-13), and there is currently no data available comparing the effect of the main sugars used in sweetened beverages among children. Furthermore, in comparison to glucose and sucrose, few studies have investigated the effect of HFCS on appetite and FI. This research is necessary to contribute to how physiological factors influence the regulation of FI and energy balance. Therefore, the primary objective of this research was to investigate the effect of 200 kcal of sucrose, HFCS-55 and glucose in 250 mL of

water at a test meal 60 min later on subjective appetite and short-term FI compared to a Sucralose® control in 9- to 14-year-old boys.

Chapter 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Introduction

The literature review is comprised of five sections. The first section provides an introduction to the prevalence, causes and consequences of childhood obesity. In the second section, sugars intake as a factor of obesity is discussed, including discussion of epidemiology. In the third section, the effect of macronutrients on FI control, including a brief overview of methods to assess FI regulation, is discussed. The fourth section provides an overview of the physiological and hormonal determinants of FI regulation in adults. In the last section, test methods used in studies of intake control are described.

2.2. Childhood Obesity

Obesity is the consequence of an energy imbalance in which energy intake exceeds energy expenditure, resulting in body fat and BW gain. Obesity is associated with many health consequences, including cardiovascular disease, diabetes and hypertension (14). The prevalence of childhood OW and obesity in Canada has more than doubled from 14% to 29% over the past two decades (2), with the majority of OB children becoming OB adults (1) and contributing to the health care burden of an unhealthy population (15).

2.2.1. Diagnosis

Body mass index (BMI), calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared, has been used to assess weight status in adults since the 1960's; however, it has only been used more recently as a diagnostic tool in children and adolescents (16, 17). Experimental studies comparing measurements of BMI to dual x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) have found that BMI positively associates with body fatness in children and adolescents (18, 19).

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) developed age- and sexdependent BMI growth charts to monitor childhood and adolescent weight status in the United States (USA) (20). A child is within the normal weight range when their BMI is between the 5th and 85th percentile for age and gender. To avoid "labeling" a child as OB, the CDC uses "at risk of OW" and "OW" to define a child above the normal range. A child is at risk of OW when their BMI is greater than the 85th percentile but below the 95th and is OW when their BMI is greater than the 95th percentile (20). While Canada uses the same charts as the USA, the terminology differs. In Canada, OW is defined as a BMI between the 85th and 95th percentile while obesity is greater than the 95th percentile (21).

2.2.2. Prevalence

According to data from the 2004 Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS), 26% of Canadian children and adolescents aged 2- to 17-years were OW or OB, compared to 15% in 1978/1979 (2). Although increases in OW and obesity are similar among boys and girls in Canada, the percentage of OW and OB 2- to 5-year-olds in Canada remained virtually unchanged, whereas the percentage of OW and OB adolescents aged 12- to 17-years increased from 14% in 1978/1979 to 29% in 2004 (2).

2.2.3. Consequences

In 2006, 4.1% - an estimated \$6 billion - of the total health care expenditures was associated with obesity in Canada (15). The economic cost of obesity will continue to rise and comprise a large percentage of Canadian health care spending unless solutions to the obesity epidemic are explored and implemented. If the prevalence of OW and obesity in Canada does not subside, it is anticipated that health care spending will increase to over \$8 billion in upcoming years (15).

The consequences of childhood and adolescent obesity include type 2 diabetes, hypertension, elevated blood pressure, insulin resistance, and dyslipidemia. Psychological and

social consequences of obesity usually precede the physical consequences in children (22). Obese children often experience loneliness, nervousness and decreased self-esteem (23). In comparison to NW children, OB children report lower ratings of self worth and experience feelings of rejection more often (24). Furthermore, OB children are more likely to participate in unhealthy risk taking behaviours such as smoking and alcohol consumption (23).

2.2.4. Causes

The etiology of obesity is complex and can be attributed to environmental, social, physiological and biological/genetic factors. Several factors have been hypothesized to contribute to childhood obesity, including inherited factors (25-28), decreased physical activity (29), increased portion sizes (30-32), increased screen time (33), increased consumption of fast food (34), increased availability of added sugars in the USA and increased consumption of SSB (5).

Studies on monozygotic twins provide evidence for a genetic basis of obesity. In studying pairs of twins, both reared together and apart, Stunkard and colleagues (35) concluded that genetic influences on BMI are substantial. The intrapair correlation for monozygotic twins reared apart was 0.70 for males and 0.66 for females. A previous study found similar results, with concordance rates for different degrees of OW twice as high for monozygotic twins as for dizygotic twins (36). Similarly, a study by Bouchard and colleagues (28) found that monozygotic twins overfed by 10% had similar tendencies towards increased adiposity. These findings provide evidence for genetic influences that are present independent of environmental factors. However, since evidence for the role of inherited factors in the development and maintenance of obesity is limited, other factors, specifically those of environmental nature, have been the overwhelming focus.

Physical inactivity is likely to contribute to a positive energy balance in children and adolescents and is associated with obesity and metabolic disease (37-39). According to the Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS), only 7% of children and adolescents are meeting the daily recommendation for 60 min of moderate/vigorous physical activity at least six days a week (40). Data from the CCHS shows physical activity levels were significantly associated with OW and obesity in children and adolescents aged 12 to 17 years. For example, sedentary boys were more likely to be OB than active boys (16% versus 9%, respectively) (2), suggesting an inverse relationship between higher levels of physical activity and bodyweight. In reviewing the evidence of physical activity on health, Strong and colleagues (41) concluded that cross-sectional and longitudinal studies suggest that youth of both sexes who participate in moderately high levels physical activity have less adiposity than non-active youth.

The rise in childhood and adolescent obesity has been paralleled by an increase in the portion size of many foods (42). In examining the effect of portion size on a single meal, adults consumed 30% more energy when offered the largest portion of the test meal compared to the smallest portion (30). Similarly, Fisher and colleagues (31) found that 4 year-olds consumed 25% more when they were served a meal that was twice the size of an age-appropriate entrée. Interestingly, FI in 3 year-olds seems to be unaffected by portion size (32), suggesting that very young children are able to self-regulate their intake by responding to physiologic cues of hunger. This evidence suggests that physiologic cues of hunger are lost or overridden by environmental cues as we age.

A positive relationship between SSB consumption and obesity has been reported in the literature. According to data from the US Department of Agriculture (USDA), per capita consumption of soft drinks has increased by almost 500% in the past 50 years (43). Data from

observational studies indicate a positive relationship between SSB consumption, including soft drinks and juice, and weight gain (4-6). For example, a study by Ludwig and colleagues (5) found that for each additional SSB consumed, BMI and frequency of obesity increased in a group of 11 and 12 year-olds. However, observational studies do not demonstrate cause and effect and, as a result, the relationship between intake of SSB and weight status cannot be confirmed.

Consumption of food eaten away from home (i.e. fast food) has also increased over the past few decades (34, 44). Fast foods are universally available and heavily marketed to children and adolescents (45), with an estimated 75% of adolescents eating fast food one or more times per week (46). Observational data from a study by Gillis and colleagues (34) suggests that OB children and adolescents consume significantly more fast food compared to non-OB kids. A more recent study by Ebbeling and colleagues (47) found that OW adolescents consumed more total energy on days when they consumed fast food, but lean subjects consumed virtually the same whether or not they consumed fast food. These findings suggest low compensation to fat in childhood obesity.

Although the above evidence suggests a variety of environmental factors contribute to obesity, it is not clear whether environmental factors simply override physiological mechanisms of FI, or if the physiological mechanisms are compromised first. Further experimental research is required to understand of how the environmental, social, behavioural, and physiological factors may affect FI regulation in children and adolescents.

2.3. Sugars Intake and Obesity

"Sugars" is the term used to describe mono- and disaccharides commonly used to improve the palatability and sweetness of foods and beverages (48). It can also refer to "sugars and syrups that are added to foods during processing or preparation," which is the definition used by The US Department of Agriculture (USDA) (48). While the term monosaccharide includes glucose, galactose and fructose, disaccharide includes sucrose, lactose and maltose (48, 49).

In contrast to popular belief, sugars consumption in Canada has not increased over the past few decades but rather is stable or has been modestly declining (50-52). Misinformation about sugars consumption is often linked to complications arising from estimation, which include lack of a comprehensive database of added sugars content in food and difficulty guessing waste adjustment to estimate consumption from availability (52).

It is important to identify the determinants of childhood obesity in order to develop targeted prevention and treatment approaches. Nicklas and colleagues (53) suggest that studying changes in eating patterns might help explain the marked increase in obesity among children and adolescents. On the intake side of the energy balance equation, total intake consumed is clearly paramount, but there is current interest in the effect of macronutrient composition on FI. In recent years, consumption of sugars in beverages has received considerable attention due to the hypothesis that they lead disproportionately to the development of obesity (8). Since children's diets tend to be higher in sugar than adults (54), and since parents often associate sugars with obesity (54), investigating trends in sugars availability and consumption is essential.

Although average daily sugar consumption differs with age, data from the 2004 CCHS indicates that, on average, 21% of daily energy intake for Canadians comes from sugar (55). While sugar consumption was lowest among women aged 71 or older, it was highest among teenage boys aged 14- to 18-years (55). Although this average estimate is higher than other reports (50, 52), data from the CCHS does not distinguish between sugars that are naturally occurring, such as those found in fruits, and sugars that are added, such as those commonly

added to manufacture SSB (55, 56). According to estimated intakes derived from USA disappearance data, average intakes of added sugars – which includes sugars from refined sugar, maple syrup, HFCS, honey and dextrose – in Canada have remained relatively stable (63.3 g/person in 1994 in comparison to 63.5 g/person in 2005) and account for approximately 13% of daily calories (50, 51). Statistics Canada data for apparent consumption of sugars and syrups indicates a slow decline over the past four decades, with estimated consumption decreasing from 76 g/day in 1970 to 51 g/day in 2010 (52, 57, 58).

The replacement of sucrose with HFCS in the food supply occurred concurrently with increases in the prevalence of childhood and adolescent obesity (8). Thus, it has been suggested that added sugars, specifically HFCS, play a causal role in weight gain (8, 59, 60). Data from the USDA shows an increase in the availability of HFCS since its introduction, increasing from 0.8 to 91.6 grams/person/day between 1970 and 2000 (43). High-fructose corn syrup was introduced in the USA food supply in the 1970's to replace sucrose (61) and is now the principal sweetener of soft drinks in the USA (13). Made by processing cornstarch to yield glucose, and then processing the glucose to produce a high percentage of fructose (8), HFCS as a replacement of sucrose was quickly accepted by the food and beverage industry due to its stability in acidic mediums (62, 63). Furthermore, HFCS is less expensive and requires little dilution before use (63). Available in two main forms, HFCS-42 and HFCS-55, HFCS is a liquid mixture of fructose and glucose (42% fructose and 58% glucose, and 55% fructose and 45% glucose, respectively). Although HFCS-42 was the principle component, HFCS-55 became the principle source in the early 1980's (8) and is the form used in soft drinks (62). HFCS-42, as percentage of total HFCS availability, decreased from 100% in 1970 to 38.8% in 2000 (43). This shift from HFCS-42 to HFCS-55 is an important factor in the SSB-obesity hypothesis.

It has been hypothesized that HFCS is a contributing factor of obesity (8). Although causal evidence is lacking, this assumption became widely accepted dogma in the public. In order to make sense of the HFCS-obesity hypothesis, inherent assumptions need to be discussed. For example, one assumption has been that HFCS and sucrose are physiologically unique, which means that their composition differs. Although its name is somewhat deceiving, HFCS, compared to sucrose, has a similar ratio of fructose and glucose. The original intent of including high-fructose in the name was to help distinguish it from common corn syrup (63). Another consideration is the relative sweetness of HFCS. A common misconception is that HFCS is sweeter than sucrose (63), and it has been suggested, since humans have a preference for sweet foods (64), that this increased sweetness leads to overeating. However, similar scores have been given for the relative subjective sweetness of sucrose and HFCS-55 (100 and 97, respectively) (65). A previous study by White & Parke (66) yielded similar results; HFCS-42 on the other hand is less sweet than sucrose, with a value of ~90 (66). National consumption patterns of HFCS are not predictive of obesity (63). When obesity rates were compared to HFCS as a percentage of national caloric sweetener use in five countries, further evidence against the HFCS-obesity hypothesis was established. The countries with the highest percentage use of HFCS were South Korea, Japan and Canada, while the highest obesity rates were in Argentina and Mexico (63). Further exploration of the relationship between added sugars, specifically HFCS, and the etiology of obesity is warranted as a causal relationship remains to be established.

Although the sugars and syrups category does not include corn sweeteners, The Canadian Sugar Institute suggests that data on soft drinks, which are principally sweetened with HFCS in the USA, can provide an indirect estimate of HFCS availability and trends (52). Although historical soft drink data in Canada has been quite variable, data from the 2011 Canadian Food

Statistics (57) report indicates a decline in soft drink availability in Canada over the past decade (3.9% energy available from soft drinks in 1995 compared to 3.0% in 2008). Although soft drink consumption in the USA is approximately double that of Canada, the trend in the USA is very similar (67, 68). Furthermore, regardless of the declining trend in availability of soft drinks, carbonated soft drinks continue to constitute the largest beverage category, both in volume and per capita consumption, in both Canada and the USA (69, 70).

Intake of added sugars in Canada are considerably below levels in the USA (71) as sugar availability in the USA increased by 30% between 1971 and 1997 (72). From 1970 to 2005, food disappearance data, which is the food available for consumption, from the USDA have shown a 20% and 100% increase in the availability of all caloric sweeteners and HFCS, respectively (69).

The consumption of sugars as a sole contributor to the increased prevalence of childhood and adolescent obesity is unclear. First, although both Canada and the USA have experienced similar increases in the incidence of childhood and adolescent obesity (2, 73), sugars availability and consumption in Canada has slightly declined (52), while the USA has experienced an increase (69, 72). Secondly, although availability of added sugars in the USA has increased, it has not increased disproportionately to other components in the food supply. A proportional increase in per capita availability of other foods occurred concurrently with the increased availability of sugars. For example, fats and oils increased by 47%, poultry by 84% and dairy products, such as milk, by 423% (70). Furthermore, overall energy also increased alongside sugar availability (15%) (70). Lastly, food consumption data are often estimated from disappearance data, which is reported on the basis of per capita for potential consumption and not on what is actually eaten (57, 67). Although a waste adjustment factor of approximately 30%

is usually applied to disappearance data (52), more recent work estimates food waste to be approximately 40% (58).

Much of the evidence assessing the relationship between sugars and obesity is complex and relies heavily on epidemiological research (5, 6, 74-77), which is limited by the fact that cause and effect cannot be determined. Since children and adolescents are believed to be the principal consumers of soft drinks, many studies have investigated the relationship between consumption of SSB in relation to obesity. SSB, which includes fruit juice and carbonated soft drinks, have been described as a potential source of high-energy, low-nutrient-dense beverages that could be a contributing factor in the increased prevalence of obesity, specifically among children and adolescents (78). Evidence resulting from epidemiological studies is now discussed.

Consumption of SSB among children and adolescents has changed in the last few decades. Secular trends from the Bogalusa Heart Study (79), a long-term epidemiologic study of cardiovascular risk factors from childhood to adulthood, revealed that the percentage of children consuming SSB significantly decreased from 1973/1974 to 1994/1994. Furthermore, this decrease was a result of a significant decrease in soft drink and sugar-sweetened coffee consumption. Data from this study do not support a linear relationship between total energy intake and SSB consumption despite overall increases in BMI during this decade (79). A similar study by Newby and colleagues (80) among a group of preschool children made comparable conclusions: there was no association between consumption of SSB and weight change or BMI.

Epidemiological studies finding a positive relationship between SSB consumption and weight status are often limited by their magnitude of effect, or effect size, having only weak effects on BW. For example, although studies by Collison and colleagues (6) and Berkey and colleagues (81) found that BMI and weight gain, respectively, positively correlated with SSB

14

consumption, this was specific to boys only. Similarly, Welsh and colleagues (4) determined that weight status only significantly related to SSB consumption for subjects who were at risk of becoming OW or those already OW at baseline.

As evidence is conflicting, the Canada-US Dietary Reference Intake report (48), published by the US Institute of Medicine, concluded that the relationship between BMI and increased sugars availability and consumption is inconsistent and therefore unclear. Plotting the trends of sugars consumption and obesity in Canada against one another supports this inverse relationship (52). Data from other countries, including Australia and the UK (82), show similar relationships between added sugars and obesity (52). The highly interrelated nature of dietary exposures makes assessing epidemiology difficult. Since key dietary components are consumed within their food matrix, overall patterns of consumption may have a greater cumulative impact on obesity than any single food or nutrient (53). Since epidemiological associations do not establish cause and effect, experimental studies assessing mechanisms of physiological control of FI in children and adolescents are required to define the relationship between sugars consumption and risk of obesity in children and adolescents.

2.4. Food Intake Regulation

Although there is extensive research of FI regulation in adults, very few studies have investigated the regulation of FI in the pediatric age range. Regulation of FI can be investigated by measuring caloric compensation, which is a term used to explain the reduction of energy intake at a test meal following a caloric preload compared to a non-caloric control. Studies demonstrate that young children compensate for energy in preloads by suppressing FI at a subsequent meal (83-85). For example, a study investigating FI regulation in preschoolers found that children aged 3- to 5-years-old compensated for calories from caloric sweeteners and fat

compared to a non-caloric control (83). In comparison, a study among a group of 9- to 10-yearolds found that the children did not compensate for calories in a sucrose preload compared to an aspartame control (86). Although this may suggest that there are developmental differences in responsiveness to energy density (87), a study among 4- to 6-year old children, 18- to 26-yearold adults and 61- to 86-year-old seniors found no differences in caloric compensation at a test meal provided 90 min after yogurt preloads varying in energy and macronutrient content (88).

Consumption of food produces a short-term suppressive effect on appetite sensations and subsequent FI (89) and contributes to energy regulation and homeostasis (90). Food intake during a test meal is dependent on a variety of factors, including dose, macronutrient composition of the preload, and the time interval between the preload and subsequent FI (91-93). Palatability and sweetness of the preload and test meal can also affect FI, suggesting that energy content cannot be solely used to predict energy intake during a test meal (91). Identifying key factors influencing increased FI, and therefore the increased prevalence of childhood and adolescent obesity, is important as the disease is associated with adverse health outcomes (14). Some of the factors affecting short-term FI are now described.

2.4.1. Macronutrients and Short-term Food Intake

Macronutrient composition is a more important determinant of FI regulation (94) than form (95, 96). Furthermore, evidence suggests that carbohydrate, protein, and fat vary in the extent to which they affect FI (97-99). A hierarchal effect of the macronutrients on subjective appetite and FI has been reported, in that protein is more satiating than carbohydrate, which is more satiating than fat (100, 101). Although little research exists investigating the effect of macronutrient composition on FI in children, the evidence available suggests that young children better compensate for calories in a snack or preload in comparison to adults (102).

2.4.1.1. Carbohydrate-induced Suppression of Short-term Food Intake

Carbohydrates are the main source of energy for humans; on average, between 50 to 70% of total daily energy intake comes from carbohydrates (103). An understanding of the mechanisms and action of carbohydrates on appetite and FI is important to define their role in relation to energy balance (91). The effect of sugars on FI in adults has received considerable investigation, with sucrose and its components, glucose and fructose, receiving the most attention (49). Studies reveal that these sugars decrease appetite and FI at subsequent meals (11, 104-108).

There is a large body of evidence examining the relationship between sugars consumption, appetite and FI in adults. Studies have found varying results, which may be a result of the source, composition, and time to next meal in relation with measures of satiety. Anderson and colleagues (11) tested the hypothesis that short-term appetite and FI responses to carbohydrate consumption is inversely related to the effect of carbohydrates on blood glucose (BG). When given a 75g glucose or sucrose preload, young men significantly lowered their FI at a subsequent test meal in comparison to the control (11, 105). Similarly, young men significantly suppressed FI after consuming a 50g glucose preload (105).

In children, the association between sugars and FI has received little investigation. Contrary to the hypothesis that sugars bypass regulatory mechanisms, a study by Birch and colleagues (104) found that 2- to 5-year-olds show excellent compensation for calories in sugars-containing preloads. The young children compensated for both the sucrose and aspartame + low glucose maltodextrin preloads during a 20 min snack period at 30 and 60 min post-preload; FI after these two preloads was significantly lower than FI after aspartame and the water control (104). Birch and colleagues hypothesized that the compensation observed in this group of young children was likely because

they had limited experience with external signals and therefore had a better reliance on internal cues of hunger. In contrast, Anderson and colleagues (86) revealed that sucrose failed to suppress FI in a group of 9- and 10-year-old children 90 min after preload consumption. Although this could be a result of dose, sensory-specific satiety, age or time to next meal, conflicting results in literature emphasize the need for further investigation regarding the role of various sugars on FI and appetite, especially in older children. Furthermore, it is important to consider that many of the studies in this area of literature are out-dated. Identifying the effect of sugars consumption on FI in older children and adolescents is important because of the crucial period of development these individuals are experiencing (109), where various environmental and physiological factors interact to modify FI regulation and behaviour.

Fructose differs in its methods of absorption and digestion in comparison to the other sugars and has a greater effect on subsequent FI (110). A potential reason for this is the rate of gastric emptying. In comparison with glucose, fructose is absorbed slower and therefore has a longer contact time with gastrointestinal receptors which initiate satiety signals (111). Food intake at a subsequent meal is suppressed to an even greater extent after a fructose-containing solution (106-108). For example, a study comparing the effect of various sugars solutions on FI found that the subsequent FI was suppressed to a greater extent following the fructose preload in comparison to following glucose, aspartame and water (106).

Unlike glucose and sucrose, pure fructose is less commonly used as a sweetener in high concentrations because even small amounts have been associated with gastrointestinal upset and malabsorption. A study assessing intestinal fructose absorption using measurements of breath hydrogen found that 71% of children experienced fructose malabsorption; breath hydrogen increased by over 10 ppm over basal values (112). A similar study measuring sequential breath-

hydrogen noted that more than half of subjects (58%) did not completely absorb fructose; furthermore, half of these reported abdominal discomfort, which is also commonly associated with high concentrations of pure fructose (113, 114).

In comparison to the other sugars, few studies have examined the effect of HFCS on short-term FI. Although it has been hypothesized that the replacement of sucrose with HFCS has contributed to the increased prevalence of obesity, the effects from short-term studies show HFCS suppresses subsequent FI in adults (12, 13, 115). For example, a study comparing the effects of HFCS and sucrose in comparison to milk and a diet-drink found that FI 50 min following HFCS did not significantly differ from FI following an isoenergetic preload of sucrose or milk (13). Similarly, in comparison of various glucose to fructose ratios, a similar study found that a HFCS-containing solution led to a caloric compensation score of 63%, which did not differ significantly from the other sugars solutions (i.e. glucose and sucrose) (12). Furthermore, studies comparing HFCS- and sucrose-containing preloads suggest that the two sugars are also similar in their effect on metabolic responses such as insulin, BG and ghrelin (12, 13, 115, 116). These results challenge the hypothesis that the introduction of HFCS is a causative factor of disproportionate FI and therefore the increased prevalence of OW and obesity. Furthermore, it still remains to be determined how HFCS-containing solutions affect FI regulation in children and adolescents, who are thought to be the principal consumers of SSB.

2.4.1.2. Fat-induced Suppression of Short-term Food Intake

The hierarchal effect of the macronutrients on FI, as found in various studies, proposes that fat is the least satiating macronutrient. However, studies assessing the effect of fat on subsequent FI suggest a role for dietary fat in satiation and satiety (83, 117, 118). The effect of fat consumption is important because establishing dietary fat recommendations for children has raised controversy. Although it is well established that over nutrition and obesity are major concerns among children around the world today, maintaining positive energy balance during childhood is also important for normal growth and development (87).

Only a handful of studies have examined the role of fat in short-term FI among children and similar compensation for energy density differences was found (83, 117, 118), suggesting that children can accurately compensate for calories in fat-containing preloads. For example, a study exploring the responsiveness of young children to varying fat compositions in foods by manipulating the fat content of yogurt matched for protein and carbohydrate content, found evidence of caloric compensation for subjects who were both 33 and 48 months old (83).

Although evidence suggests younger children can precisely compensate for fat-containing preloads, studies assessing the effect of fat in young adults show little compensation. For example, one study made a direct comparison of the short-term effects of isoenergetic preloads, containing either sucrose or safflower oil, on subjective appetite and FI in young males (119). A significant suppression of FI was only found after the sucrose preload; the safflower preload did not significantly reduce subsequent FI at the test meal. Similarly, sucrose, but not safflower oil, caused a significant decrease in subjective appetite and subsequent FI in comparison to the control (119). Similarly, a study comparing the effects of carbohydrate and fat consumption found that a carbohydrate supplement, but not a fat supplement, suppressed appetite and FI at a subsequent test meal (120). The supplementary carbohydrate was derived from sucrose, maltodextrin and glucose, whereas the fat supplement consisted of margarine and dairy cream; both supplements were added to the standard preload to alter the macronutrient composition (120). Further studies are needed to elucidate the effect of fat on subjective appetite and

subsequent FI in both children and adults because much of variability in the energy content of foods is due to difference in fat content.

2.4.1.3. Protein-induced Suppression of Short-term Food Intake

Evidence suggests that dietary protein suppresses short-term FI at a subsequent meal in adults (121-123). However, very little research has investigated the role of dietary protein on appetite and FI in children. A study investigating the effects of a meals varying in macronutrient composition on satiety demonstrated that a meal high in protein (46g protein, 13g carbohydrate, 18g fat) suppressed subsequent FI in a group of NW preschool children more than a meal high in carbohydrate (12g protein, 67g carbohydrate, 9g fat) (94). The authors conclude that a meal high in protein might be beneficial for preschool children who are OW or OB since the high protein meal was more satiating (94).

Although few studies have assessed the role of protein on short-term satiety in children, some assumptions can be made based on the results of adult studies. In particular, it can be assumed that protein consumption would suppress FI during a test meal and decrease sensations of hunger in children. A handful of studies have demonstrated that dietary protein is more satiating than carbohydrate and fat in adults (97, 121, 123-125). In addition, many short-term studies investigating the role of protein on satiety and satiation in adults have reported that FI at a later meal was suppressed following protein consumption (121-123). For example, a study by Booth and colleagues (122) fed adults a meal either high (40 g) or low (6 g) in protein and measured subsequent FI at a test meal 2 or 3 h later. When fed the protein rich lunch, adults consumed fewer calories at the test meal in comparison to their intake after the low protein lunch (122). Similarly, a more recent study found that consumption of a high-energy protein-enriched

beverage reduced subsequent food consumption and hunger in a group of male subjects between the ages of 18 and 34 years more than the beverage low in protein (125).

2.4.2. Sweetness and Short-term Food Intake

Humans have a preference for sweet foods (64), which suggests that FI is influenced by sweetness (126). Sweetness is a sensation generated when sugar, or another sweetener, interacts with chemoreceptors on the tongue, resulting in a pleasure response. The role of sweetness on FI regulation is unclear. Results from studies assessing a relationship between sweetness and short-term FI are conflicting and, at present, there is no agreement on whether sweetness stimulates or suppresses FI.

Evidence suggests that there is a positive relationship between sweetness and FI. A study among university staff and students found that a low-energy, artificially sweetened solution made with aspartame and acesulfame-K increased energy intake at a test meal in comparison to water, suggesting a stimulatory effect of sweetness on appetite and FI (127). This short-term action on FI has been previously demonstrated using yogurt sweetened with saccharin (128) and preloads sweetened with saccharin (105), aspartame (105, 129) or acesulfame-K (105) as the carrying agent for sweetness. Aspartame, acesulfame-K, and saccharin are three non-caloric and non-nutritive sweeteners commonly used as a sugar substitute (105).

In contrast to the above, there is also evidence to suggest a suppressive effect of sweetness (9, 104, 119). For example, a study comparing pure sucrose and safflower oil found the effects of solutions containing 25 g and 50 g sucrose was not different from the non-caloric sweetened control, but was different from the water control. Food intake following water was approximately 518 kJ higher (119). Furthermore, a study comparing the effects of sucrose and maltose, a disaccharide made from two glucose units, conclude that the satiating effect of

sweetness is not only found in the absence of energy. When given a lemon-flavoured preload, sucrose solutions increased fullness and decreased prospective food consumption more than maltose, which is less sweet (130). Because this evidence challenges previous findings (127), it remains to be determined which factor plays a larger role in FI regulation: the hedonic value of sugars or the physiologic features (i.e. sweetness) of sugars and artificial sweeteners.

2.4.3. Food Variety in a Meal and Short-term Food Intake

Food variety in a meal is associated with increased FI in adults (131-133). For example, subjects fed a four-course meal consisting of a variety of foods ate 44% more than subjects consuming the same one food on four separate occasions (131). Similarly, when comparing FI following a meal with a food variety to FI following one without, it was concluded that subjects consumed one third more when offered sandwiches with four different fillings than when offered one type of sandwich (133). However, if the sensory qualities of the foods offered are too similar, increased FI may not occur. For example, subjects offered three types of yogurt similar in colour and texture did not eat significantly more than subjects offered only one type (134). This suggests that food variety, in part, is dependent on varying as many sensory characteristics possible within the meal.

There is no evidence to suggest that variety in a meal will increase FI among children. A study assessing the effect of food variety on FI found that, when given food choices, 33- to 47- month-old children accomplished caloric compensation in test meals following a preload by consistently consuming their most favoured foods and reducing their intake of non-preferred foods (118). This finding suggests that FI at a given meal is affected by foods previously consumed; whether children will eat more with increased food variety maintains to be determined.
2.4.5. Time to Next Meal and Short-term Food Intake

Time to the next meal, in addition to composition, is an important determinant of FI (86, 99, 135, 136), as varying results from preload studies have been suggested to be a result of different time intervals between the preload and test meal (137). Studies assessing FI following various preloads have found compensation by adults when the subsequent meal was 20 to 80 min later (12, 13, 119, 138, 139). A study investigating the subjective determinants of FI in adults found that time to next meal alone only accounted for a small variance (2%) in meal size (140); yet, when considered together with subjective sensations of hunger and prior stomach content, the three factors accounted for almost 30% of meal size (140).

Although less research has been done in children, studies demonstrate children compensate for energy in preloads when time to next meal is between 20 to 90 min (83, 84, 86, 104). For example, one study revealed that 9- to 10-year-olds were able to compensate for a sugar preload at a test meal 30 min, but not 90 min, after consumption (86). Similarly, a study by Bellissimo and colleagues (136) concluded that the effect of carbohydrate and protein on FI was dependent on time to the next meal. In NW 9- to 14 year-old boys, the effect of glucose decreased compensation, while the effect of whey protein increased compensation, between 30 and 60 min, respectively, suggesting that physiological mechanisms involving these two macronutrients are different.

2.5. Physiological Control of Food Intake

Food intake is controlled by a redundant system, which involves distinct and overlapping interactions between short- and long-term physiological mechanisms and the central nervous system (CNS) (141). Regulators of satiety, which act in the shorter term, transmit information to the CNS shortly after food is ingested (141). Satiety-induced signals are initiated by mechanical

or chemical stimulation of the stomach or small intestine and neural input related to energy metabolism in the liver (142), as well as humoral signals released upon nutrient stimulation of secretory cells lining the intestinal lumen (143). Although these hormones alone may not have a long-term effect on FI (144), these signals interact with the adiposity signals leptin and insulin, which are long-term regulators of FI control (145), and which are secreted in proportion to the amount of adipose tissue of the individual (90). Despite short-term discrepancies in energy balance, humans have an innate ability to match cumulative energy intake to energy expenditure over a longer period of time; this phenomenon, termed energy homeostasis (90), is controlled by an intricate interaction of neural centers involving the hypothalamus, brainstem and cortex (141).

2.5.1. Long-term Regulators of Food Intake and Energy Balance

Insulin was the first hormonal signal thought to be involved in the control of energy homeostasis and BW via the CNS (90). Once secreted from the pancreatic beta cells, insulin, a pancreatic hormone, enters the brain from the circulation (146) and acts there as an anorexigenic signal to regulate FI (147). Insulin is an adiposity signal and long-term regulator of energy homeostasis (90) and is circulated at levels proportional to body fat (148) so that plasma insulin increases in times of positive energy balance and decreases during the opposite (149). Woods and colleagues first proposed that insulin was a long-term regulator of FI, adiposity and energy balance in the 1970's (149). Since that time, evidence has surfaced in support of this hypothesis (145, 150, 151). For example, studies have shown that with an absence of elevated glucose, basal insulin is in direct proportion to adiposity (148, 151). Furthermore, insulin transport into the central nervous system (CNS) occurs over a long period of time after circulating concentrations of insulin increase, thus coinciding with a role in the long-term maintenance of adiposity rather than a short-term satiety signal (152). Evidence supporting insulin's effect to decrease FI

includes Woods and colleagues (147) finding that continuous infusion of insulin over a 20 day period into free-feeding baboons induced a sustained suppression of FI. A similar reduction of FI in rats has also been noted (153-155). In humans, ingestion of food elicits insulin secretion from the pancreatic beta cells (152, 156). To inhibit FI, insulin interacts with CCK and several other hypothalamic neuropeptides also involved in the regulation of feeding behaviour (90, 157). There is also evidence to suggest that insulin works in the brain to decrease FI in humans (152).

Leptin, which is secreted from adipocytes in direct proportion to the amount of stored fat within one's body (158-160), is transported across the blood-brain barrier where it binds to specific receptors on appetite-modulating neurons (161). Like insulin, levels of plasma leptin ('ob protein'), which is secreted from adipose tissues, varies proportionately with changes in adiposity (162) but has a greater biological impact when levels are decreasing than when circulating concentrations are increased (152). For example, although administration of leptin to humans who are not leptin-deficient only leads to modest weight loss (163, 164), small doses administered to subjects with a leptin deficiency reduced hyperphagia and resulted in decreased weight from body fat (165). Additionally, Keim and colleagues (166) demonstrated that increased sensations of hunger in women on a 12 week energy deficit correlated with reduction of plasma leptin levels; the greatest increase in hunger corresponded with the largest percentage decline in circulating leptin. These observations, together with the hypothesis that most OB individuals are resistant to the regulatory effect of leptin (167), support the proposition that leptin is a physiological regulator of hunger and FI. More recently, an important interaction between leptin and CCK has been demonstrated. A study by McMinn and colleagues (168) supports a model whereby signals involved in long-term regulation influence FI via an interaction with short-term regulators and satiety signals.

Although the mechanisms by which macronutrient consumption regulates FI are not fully understood, it appears that they are interrelated. Evidence suggests that the interaction between short- and long-term systems is essential for the control of FI and consequential continuing management of energy homeostasis.

2.5.2. Short-term Regulators of Food Intake and Energy Balance

A variety of hormones and signals have been identified as playing an independent or combined role in FI regulation. Despite short-term fluctuations in energy balance, humans have the ability to maintain a relatively stable BW (90, 169). This phenomenon, termed homeostasis, is controlled by an intricate interaction between short- and long-term regulatory mechanisms of FI (169). Both the long-term action of insulin and leptin, which indicate sufficient energy stores, and the short-term action of meal-related signals, such as those coordinated by glucagon-like peptide-1 and cholecystokinin, are important to discuss (169).

2.5.2.1. <u>Glucagon-like Peptide-1</u>

Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), a derivative of the larger molecule proglucagon (170), has been well established as a regulator of FI in humans (171-176) and is considered to have a major role in the postprandial release of insulin. A study investigating the physiological role of GLP-1 in man concluded that this peptide meets the criteria necessary to be termed an incretin hormone (177). An "incretin effect" occurs when oral glucose elicits a greater insulin response than an infusion of intravenous glucose, even when the same dose is given (178). Following carbohydrate ingestion, GLP-1 is released from the endocrine cells in the intestinal mucosa and enhances postprandial insulin release (177). Furthermore, when men were infused with GLP-1, glucose and glucagon levels fell while insulin levels rose significantly (177). Studies assessing

the physiological activity of GLP-1 following carbohydrate ingestion have also found evidence suggesting this peptide plays a role in the regulation of gastric emptying (179).

2.5.2.2. Glucose-dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide

A second peptide that meets the criteria of an incretin hormone is glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP), which was the first to be characterized and discovered. GIP is released from the duodenal K cells, most notably in response to fat ingestion (180). Although a few studies have shown GIP is a potent regulator of glucose-dependent insulin in animals and humans (181-183), the incretin effect is not eliminated when GIP is removed from gut extracts (184). This finding led researchers to believe that other peptides existed with incretin-like activity (184); it was not until one decade later that GLP-1 was discovered.

2.5.2.3. Cholecystokinin

One of the most studied satiety signals is cholecystokinin (CCK), which is released from the I cells found in the proximal small intestine (185) and has receptors located in both the CNS and gastrointestinal (GI) tract (186). Although involved in several important activities, including pancreatic enzyme secretion (185), CCK is most known for its ability to increase feelings of satiety and suppress subsequent FI in animals (187-189) and humans (190-192). Following the ingestion of food, CCK is released and elicits several effects on the GI system, including gastric emptying, regulation of gut motility and gull bladder contraction (169, 193), as well as satiety regulation and the secretion of pancreatic enzymes (185).

2.5.3. Carbohydrate-induced Satiety

The presence of carbohydrate in the gastrointestinal tract plays an important role in FI regulation. Of key importance is the interaction between gastrointestinal receptors and carbohydrates. For example, in rabbits, intraduodenal infusion of glucose reduced FI, whereas

infusions of the same amounts of glucose into the hepatic portal circulation had no effect (194). In addition, a study in adult males found that BG concentrations were the same after an intraduodenal administration and intravenous infusion of glucose (195). These studies suggest that the presence of glucose in the gastrointestinal tract is the primary signal affecting FI, and not the rise in glucose per se (196). As discussed above, carbohydrates are the main energy source for most populations; quantitatively the most important macronutrient, it is easy to speculate that carbohydrates play a central role in energy metabolism and homeostasis (103).

More than five decades ago, Jean Mayer proposed that FI is regulated by glucoreceptors that are sensitive to changes in BG (197). According to this phenomenon, widely known as the glucostatic theory, an increase in BG concentrations results in increased feelings of satiety (197, 198) and, sequentially, a decrease in FI (199). Conversely, a decrease in BG concentrations would decrease feelings of satiety and increase FI (198, 199). Carbohydrate-induced satiety is mediated through a multiplicity of potential mechanisms, including changes in BG concentration and the interaction with hormones, including GLP-1, GIP and CCK. Ingestion of carbohydrate increases the concentration of BG, therefore stimulating the release of some of these gastrointestinal hormones (91); these mechanisms of short-term regulation interact with those signals of the longer-term satiety (insulin and leptin) to maintain energy homeostasis (145).

2.5.3.1. Blood Glucose as a Potential Mechanism of Carbohydrate-induced Satiety

Blood glucose is maintained at a relatively stable concentration in humans through the efforts of various hormones that establish glucose homeostasis. A key component of this regulation is detection of ambient glucose levels by the alpha and beta cells of the pancreatic islets and the resulting secretion of one of these hormones (156). For example, when BG levels are diminished, glucagon is secreted and stimulates glucose release from the liver. In contrast,

insulin helps lower BG levels by inducing glucose storage and uptake. Glucostats within the brain are also continually monitoring BG levels. These neurons are located in the satiety center of the brain (basal hypothalamus) and maintain tonic inhibitory control over neurons in the feeding center (lateral hypothalamus). When BG levels are low, signals are centrally transmitted to the brain and the satiety center no longer inhibits neurons in the feeding center, thus causing an increase in hunger and initiation of FI (156).

Jean Mayer first introduced the idea that appetite and FI relates to BG (199). According to the glucostatic theory, there is an inverse relationship between BG and FI (199) and this relationship has been found in studying the effect of macronutrients on appetite and FI (12, 200). For example, in assessment of various sugars solutions on FI and satiety hormones, it was concluded that suppression of FI after a 75 g sucrose or glucose solution was inversely related to the effect of the same solution on BG (12). Although it has been suggested BG contributes directly to satiety (49, 59), conflicting results suggest that it works in combination with other mechanisms to control energy intake (12, 91).

2.5.3.2. Incretin Hormones as a Potential Mechanism of Carbohydrate-induced Satiety

A variety of hormones have been identified in the exploration of mechanisms affecting appetite and FI regulation after carbohydrate ingestion. The incretin hormones, GLP-1 and GIP, have received considerable attention, however, although these gastrointestinal peptide hormones may inhibit appetite and FI (152), their physiological role in FI regulation has yet to be definitively established.

Previous studies have shown that GLP-1 is a physiological regulator of appetite and FI (173-176, 196) as it stimulates insulin secretion in the presence of elevated BG levels (156). For example, a study examining the effect of GLP-1 on subjective appetite and FI concluded that

30

peripherally administered GLP-1 significantly influences appetite sensation and reduces FI in healthy subjects (176). During the test meal, almost 80% of subjects consumed considerably less food during GLP-1 infusion in comparison to the saline control (176). A similar study found that concentrations of GLP-1, which were above baseline at 30 min, continued to rise while appetite decreased (196). However, a more recent study found evidence that argues against a major role for GLP-1 in the regulation of appetite (201). In determining the effects of oral fructose on GLP-1 secretion and appetite, Kong et al. found that 75 g of glucose and fructose have comparable effects on appetite and FI. However, GLP-1 concentrations were greater after ingestion of glucose in comparison to fructose. Specifically, at 30 min, plasma GLP-1 was 28.6 ± 3.6 pmol/l after glucose only and 17.6 ± 1.8 pmol/l after fructose-only (P<0.0001) (201). The observation that glucose is a more potent stimulant of GLP-1 (and insulin) argues against a major role of GLP-1 in the regulation of appetite. Conflicting results question the strength of the role GLP-1 plays in the stimulation of satiation by carbohydrate.

Although it has been established that approximately 50% of the insulin release after an oral glucose load is mediated by the incretin hormones (202), the relative role of GIP is uncertain. In a study assessing the relationship between plasma insulin, GLP-1 and GIP and the control of short-term satiety, Lavin and colleagues (196) showed that GIP and GLP-1 concentrations increased with infusion of intraduodenal glucose, but not intraduodenal saline. While GIP concentrations increased rapidly, GLP-1 concentrations responded more slowly and were associated with an increase in insulin and decrease in FI. Although this data supports the role of incretin hormones as a mechanism of FI regulation, the evidence is stronger for GLP-1 as the temporal relationship was much closer between the suppression of FI by intraduodenal glucose and the release of GLP-1 than by the release of GIP (196).

2.5.4. Fat-induced Satiety

Little is known about the role of fat in the mechanisms underlying satiety and satiation in humans. Evidence suggests that high-fat foods exert a weaker effect on satiation and satiety than do the other macronutrients (119, 203). Ingestion of fat, similar to the ingestion of protein, regulates FI by stimulating the release of CCK. In addition, it has been postulated that the oxidation of fat may have an effect on FI regulation by suppressing subsequent consumption (203). Two studies have found results to support this premise, in which the inhibition of fat oxidation by methyl palmoxirate (204) or 2-mercapto acetate (205) caused increases in FI. As it is unlikely that a single unitary association exists between the consumption of dietary fat and appetite regulation, further studies are needed to investigate the role of fat in the physiological control of FI.

2.5.5. Protein-induced Satiety

The observation of an inverse relationship between the concentration of serum amino acids and appetite, as found by Mellinkoff and colleagues in 1956, first suggested the idea that components of protein influence FI (206). This became known as the aminostatic hypothesis. However, because concentrations of plasma and brain amino acids rise relatively slow after protein consumption (207), it was later suggested that satiety signals after protein consumption begin in the gastrointestinal tract.

There are many mechanisms by which protein metabolism exerts an effect on satiety and FI, including the slowing of gastric emptying (208) and direct or indirect stimulation and increase of gut hormones, such as CCK (188, 209) and GLP-1 (210). Furthermore, studies have also found evidence suggesting that the source of the protein is another factor influencing FI regulation (211, 212). For example, a study by Hall and colleagues (212) found that FI and

subjective satiety in adult subjects was lower 90 min after a drink containing 400 kcal and 48 g of whey in comparison to a drink containing an equal amount of casein.

2.6. Measures of Satiety, Appetite and Body Composition in Children

This section outlines and describes terminology, instruments and test methods used in studies assessing satiety, FI, subjective appetite and body composition.

2.6.1. Hunger, Satiation and Satiety

Hunger, satiation and satiety are important terms to define, as they are central in the understanding of appetite and FI regulation. Hunger, a biological drive, determines what, how much and when to eat and initiates eating episodes (203). Satiation, often referred to as intrameal satiety, is developed during the course of eating (203) and controls the amount of food consumed by bringing the meal to an end (91). Since meal ingestion usually occurs over a short period of time, satiation is likely to be controlled by factors that arise immediately during or right after eating. As satiation starts to develop, hunger declines (203). On the other hand, satiety, sometimes referred to as inter-meal satiety, is the inhibition of hunger and further eating as a result of food consumption (91, 203). The intensity of satiety can be measured by the duration of time before FI resumes or by the amount of food eaten during a subsequent meal (203).

The physiological regulation of appetite and FI is only one factor influencing how much and why we eat. Various other factors, including social and psychological determinants (213), can also have an impact on FI control, whether independently or in combination. For example, research suggests that children's eating patterns are influenced by a variety of socioeconomic and sociocultural factors (213), including parents' education (214, 215) and family values or beliefs (216, 217). Since children and adolescent's eating habits are influenced by a multitude of factors, prevention methods need to be targeted at the different levels of which these occur.

2.6.1.1. Visual Analogue Scales to Measure Subjective Appetite

The most widely used approach to measure motivation to eat or subjective appetite is by asking subjects a series of questions using visual analogue scales (VAS) (218). Hill and Blundell developed the first version of this questionnaire in 1982, which consisted of six questions addressing 1) desire to eat (DTE), 2) hunger, 3) fullness, 4) prospective food consumption, 5) urge to eat, and 6) preoccupation with thoughts about food (219). Corresponding with each question are contrasting statements, which are found at opposing ends of a 100 mm horizontal line (219). For example, the first question which asks, 'How strong is your desire to eat?' has the opposing statements "very weak" and "very strong."

There are several studies in the literature that report using VAS as a measure of appetite in both children (136, 220-222) and adults (12, 96, 219, 223, 224). However, support for VAS use as a measure of subjective appetite is a matter of debate in adults due to inconsistent findings. For example, although a study assessing predictive power reported a positive group correlation between subjective ratings of hunger and feeding behaviour in adults (r=0.50; P<0.02), there were no significant relationships between hunger ratings and energy content of eating bouts when the analysis was conducted within individuals (225). However, although this evidence suggests hunger ratings are not a good proxy for quantitative variables such as energy intake (225), a handful of studies have found evidence to support test-retest reliability of VAS hunger ratings (226-228). Furthermore, a retrospective analysis of four randomized controlled studies determined that FI is related to ratings of hunger and fullness as measured by VAS in older and younger adults (229). Specifically, FI positively related to perceptions of hunger and inversely related to perceptions of fullness (229).

The effectiveness of VAS as a measure of subjective appetite among children has also been investigated. A study using VAS to measure subjective appetite in young children following caloric and non-caloric preloads found that ratings of hunger, DTE and fullness fluctuated with time and nutritional state (P<0.01), whereas ratings of sweetness did not fluctuate appropriately with time (86). Similarly, a study in a group of 9- to 14-year-olds found that FI was positively associated with AA ratings measured by VAS (136). This data supports the view that children are able to complete VAS in a quantitative manner. A recent study assessing the reproducibility of subjective appetite following a glucose preload also supports the use of VAS in children (221). Although the reproducibility of baseline appetite scores in the 9- to 14-year-old boys was lower than reported in adults (221), the composite AA score and prospective food consumption did not differ between the two days when expressed as change from baseline (221).

2.6.2. Preload Design as Measure of Food Intake Regulation

In order to examine the effects of individual macronutrients on FI, preload paradigms are usually employed (91, 203). Carbohydrates, including glucose, fructose and sucrose, exert measurable effects on FI at a subsequent meal when given as a preload or in an experimental meal (14, 110, 203). A preload design allows the effect of the macronutrient to be tested over the various treatments by measuring the quantitative effect the preload has on subsequent FI (110). Preloads are usually given orally or administered directly into the stomach or small intestine if certain influences are to be excluded. A subsequent ad libitum meal is then provided to measure an effect on satiety (91). Satiety develops after food has been digested and can either delay the onset of the next meal or decrease FI (230). A preload solution or food with high satiety tends to

produce a longer period of time between eating episodes and/or decrease subsequent intake in comparison to a treatment that is reported to have lower satiety (230, 231). Foods producing only a weak effect on satiety are not expected to be effective in the maintenance of energy homeostasis and appetite (203), and may over time contribute to weight gain.

2.6.3. Measurement of Body Composition

Accurate assessment of body composition is important in many areas of obesity and nutrition-related research. Some of the more frequently used body composition techniques to estimate fat-mass (FM) or fat-free mass (FFM) in children and adolescents include measures of skinfold thickness, dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) and bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA). These three measures of body composition are briefly discussed below.

2.6.3.1. Skinfold Thickness

Information on body composition is important for the assessment of nutritional status (232); however, measures such as underwater weighing are quite laborious (233). One inexpensive and simple measure of adiposity is the measurement of skinfold thickness, which is measured by pinching the skin of the individual and measuring the fold with a caliper at specific sites (234). The assumptions underlying the rationale of measuring skinfold thickness are that skinfold thickness is an adequate measure of subcutaneous fat and that there is a defined relationship between subcutaneous fat and total body fat (234).

Several studies have shown that measures of skinfold thickness in adults correlate with measures of body fat obtained by BIA or DXA, suggesting skinfold thickness is an accurate measure of body composition. Durnin and Rahaman (235) extended their study to include 12- to 16-year-old adolescents and found that the correlation coefficients for total skinfold thickness and body density in the boys and girls were -0.76 and -0.78, respectively (P<0.001). Brook (236)

further suggested that skinfold measurements are suitable for younger children because they are simple, painless and safe. Using the same regression equations of Durnin and Rahaman (235) for adolescents, Brook (236) assessed the use of these equations in the pediatric population by correlating the results of skinfold measurements in children with measurements of total body water using deuterium oxide. In conclusion of the results, Brook suggested that new equations were required to assess body density in the pediatric population. The Brook equation has since been used in various studies among 9- to 14-year-old children (136, 221, 237).

2.6.3.2. Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry

Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) is a relatively new method to estimate body composition and is believed to be appropriate for children as young as 4 years old (238). Developed to measure bone mineral density, DXA allows for a more specific measurement of FM and FFM by measuring whole and segmental body fat as well as lean muscle mass (239). In assessment of the short-term (one week) reproducibility of DXA to assess body composition of young adults, Mazess and colleagues (240) concluded that total body and bone mineral density, percent fat and lean tissue mass can be determined with small precision error. The advantage of DXA as a measure of body composition is that it only requires 10 to 20 min, involves minimal radiation and gives regional values as well as total body values (240).

2.6.3.3. Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis

Bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) is also a relatively new method to assess body composition and measures impedance of the body to a small electric current (238). The principle of BIA is that fat free mass in the body is a better conductor of electricity than fat, which does not have large amounts of water and electrolytes (241). An individual with a greater contribution of total body water and FFM in the body will have less resistance to the flow of the electric

current in comparison to an individual with a greater contribution of FM. Although equations have been derived for obesity in the pediatric range (242), accuracy in younger individuals remains poor and measurements may be confounded by clinical status (238). However, bioelectrical resistance has been cross-validated in children against other measures such as total body water (243) and total body potassium (244). For example, in comparing FFM estimates from total body potassium and bioelectrical resistance, Schaefer and colleagues (244) demonstrated that bioelectrical resistance and age and a root mean square error of 1.98 could estimate FFM accurately ($r^2 = 0.98$).

2.6.4. Dietary Cognitive Restrained, Emotional and External Eating Behaviours

It is well established that restrained, emotional and external eating behaviours have the potential to affect FI. One tool useful in identifying the presence of these behaviours is the Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire (DEBQ). First developed by Van Strien and colleagues in 1986 (245), this questionnaire contains scales for restrained, emotional and external eating. According to three theories, externality theory, psychosomatic theory, and restrained eating theory, these three factors may have an effect on FI, whether the result is an increase or decrease in overall energy intake (246-248). The externality theory is based on the concept that people differ in their sensitivity to external cues of hunger (249). Regardless of their internal state of hunger, an external eater eats in response to the cues they are most sensitive to. The psychosomatic theory, which focuses on emotional eating, suggests that emotional eaters eat in response to their eating theory emphasizes that restrained eaters are more likely to overeat than non-restrained eaters as bingeing can occur as a result of dieting (249-251). In a series of studies used to develop and assess use of the DEBQ, Van Strien et al. (245) found that the three scales have a

high internal consistency as well as a high factorial validity. Cronbach's alpha coefficients reflected adequate internal consistency for retrained (0.95), emotional (0.91) and external eating (0.80); furthermore, correlation coefficients for items within each scale were high (245).

There is sufficient evidence to support that restrained, emotional and external eating are factors affecting FI (249, 251-253). A study assessing the effect of manipulated perceptions of portion size found that subsequent FI differed based on different perceptions of portion size, even though all portions were identical (251). Subjects who believed their snack portion was larger than that given to others had differences in subsequent FI relative to the control, with the direction of effect dependent on restraint status. While non-restrained eaters consumed less at the test meal following their perception of a larger preload, restrained eaters consumed significantly more, therefore counter-regulating their FI (251). This finding is consistent with data from other studies, suggesting that restrained eaters eat a large amount when they become disinhibited (i.e. from perceiving that their preload was larger) but eat a small, reasonable amount when they are not (254-257). Furthermore, a study assessing the effect of restrained, emotional and disinhibited eating found that increased BW positively associated with restrained eating and negatively with external eating (249). Although there was no association between BW and emotional eating in girls, increased BW was negatively associated with emotional eating in boys (249).

2.7. Summary

There are many unexplored physiological variables that affect FI regulation in children, and the effect of sugars composition on energy balance and FI is unknown. Although it is hypothesized that children and adolescents consume more sugars than adults (54), there is little research investigating the role of sugars in solution in the regulation of appetite and FI in the pediatric population. Identifying the key dietary components contributing to positive energy balances is necessary so that appropriate prevention and treatment approaches can be developed, and to dismiss anecdotal evidence of dietary components that are not contributing to the obesity epidemic. Therefore, the objective of this research was to examine the effect of various sugars solutions on appetite and FI compared to a Sucralose® control in NW 9- to 14-year-old boys. Chapter 3

HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVE

3.1 Hypothesis

Glucose will suppress FI to a greater extent than other sugars-containing solutions, with similar reductions in FI between sucrose and HFCS-55 in NW 9- to 14-year-old boys.

3.2 *Objective*

To describe the effect of 200 kcal of sucrose, HFCS-55 and glucose in 250 mL of water at a test meal 60 min later on subjective appetite and short-term food intake compared to a Sucralose® control.

Chapter 4

METHODS

4.1. Overview of Research Design

A within-subject repeated measures design was used to examine the effect of various sugars solutions on subjective appetite and FI regulation in NW 9- to 14-year-old boys. The experimental protocol was repeated on four separate weekend mornings, one week apart. On each of the four mornings the boys received, in random order, one of the four test solutions, after which they were given 100 ml of water to cleanse their palate. Subjects arrived at the Department of Applied Human Nutrition at Mount Saint Vincent University 2 h after consumption of a standardized breakfast of milk, cereal, and orange juice. Visual analogue scales (VAS) to assess motivation to eat and physical comfort were completed at baseline (0 min), and at regular intervals up to the test lunch, and immediately after. A pizza lunch was provided to subjects 60 min after consumption of each test solution. Subjects were instructed to eat until comfortably full. Following lunch, children completed a VAS to assess the palatability of the pizza meal.

4.2. Subjects

Fifteen NW boys (between the 5th and 85th BMI percentile for age and gender) between the ages of 9 and 14 years participated in this study. Subjects were recruited via flyers that were posted throughout the Halifax Regional Municipality and through word of mouth. In addition, an advertisement was placed in the Metro® newspaper. A recruitment letter outlining the study protocol was also given to the parent/guardian of potential subjects (Appendix 8.1). The Mount Saint Vincent University Research Ethics Board approved this study (# 2010-017).

To participate, the boys had to be born at full-term and normal birth weight (greater than 2500g) (258). Exclusion criteria included: those taking medication which could interfere with appetite or FI, those with significant learning, behavioral, or emotional difficulties, those on

special diets that would limit their ability to consume the standard breakfast and/or test meal and those who disliked or were not willing to consume the standard breakfast or test meal.

In order to ensure that subjects met the inclusion criteria, a two-step screening was done before participation in the experimental sessions. The first step was a telephone screening questionnaire (Appendix 8.2), which determined initial eligibility in the study. If the subject met the criteria, an in-person screening session was scheduled for the child and their parent(s). At the screening, the study was explained and informed written consent (Appendix 8.3) was obtained from the parent and written assent (Appendix 8.4) obtained from the child. The children selected the type of pizza they would like to eat during the test visits and were also exposed to the study questionnaires. Physical measurements of the child's height (cm) and weight (kg) were measured and recorded using a balance scale and skinfold measurements were taken at four points (triceps, biceps, suprailiac, and subscapular) (Appendix 8.5). Before leaving, parents and subjects chose a time for their session to begin based on the time the child normally consumes breakfast; subjects were asked to arrive at the same time for each subsequent session.

4.3. Experimental Procedure

Subjects arrived at the Department of Applied Human Nutrition 2 h after eating a standardized breakfast of fat-free skim milk (250 ml), Honey Nut Cheerios® (26 g), and Tropicana Orange Juice® (236 ml). The time at which the child arrived at the department was kept consistent across all four sessions. Prior to consuming the standardized breakfast, subjects were asked to fast for 10 to 12 h. Subjects were also requested not to exercise on the morning of the study and not to consume anything aside from the breakfast prior to arriving at the lab with the exception of water, which was allowed for 1 h prior to arrival.

Upon arrival, the children were asked if they consumed their entire breakfast, if any other foods were consumed 12 h prior to arrival and if they were taking any medication (Appendix 8.7). If significant deviations from original patterns were reported, subjects were asked to reschedule. Assuming all guidelines were adhered to, subjects were escorted to the test room where they consumed one of the three sugars solutions or a control solution in full after measuring their motivation to eat and physical comfort on a VAS. Motivation to eat (Appendix 8.8.1) and physical comfort (Appendix 8.8.2) were also measured at 15, 30, 45, 60 and 90 min from baseline. After consuming the test solutions each child was asked to drink 100 ml of plain water to reduce aftertaste. The solutions were prepared the day before, stored in a refrigerator overnight and served the following morning in plastic cups with lids left in place during drinking to prevent spills. After consumption of the sugars-containing preload, the boys were given separate VAS to measure sweetness (Appendix 8.8.3) and pleasantness (Appendix 8.8.4) of the preload solutions.

Between the treatment and test meal, subjects were allowed to engage in age appropriate indoor activities of their choice, but consistent for all sessions (i.e. board games, reading and puzzles). Sixty min after consuming the test solution, subjects were escorted back to the test room for lunch. The test meal consisted of pizza (McCain Foods: Deep and Delicious 5" Pizza) that was prepared in the Foods Laboratory in the Department of Applied Human Nutrition. An advantage of using these pizzas is the lack of crust, which results in a pizza with a more uniform energy content and the elimination of the possibility of subjects eating the denser filling and leaving the outside crust of the pizza. The pizza was served on individual trays set times following the preload. Three pizzas were served on each tray (average of 180 kcal/pizza, 49.5% of energy as carbohydrate, 31% as fat and 19% as protein depending on its variety), removing

the first tray after 10 min and silently providing the subjects with a second warm tray. The subjects were instructed to eat until they were comfortably full. Water was provided with all meals, and weighed before and after the test meal to determine consumption. After the test meal, subjects rated the pleasantness of the test meal (Appendix 8.8.5) as well as completed the other needed VAS measures.

The data collected was subjective appetite scores and caloric compensation. Subjective appetite was analyzed by obtaining a numerical value from the VAS. The numerical value was obtained by measuring the length between the left end of the line and the 'X' as indicated by the participant. Calculating the calories consumed at each of the four test meals assessed caloric compensation.

4.4. Materials and Methods

4.4.1. Test Meal

Two varieties of McCain Deep and Delicious 5" diameter pizzas were served at the test meal: pepperoni or three-cheese (**Table 4.1**). The pepperoni pizza (87 g) contains 9 g of protein, 6 g of fat and 23 g of carbohydrates for a total energy content of 180 kcal. Similarly, each three-cheese pizza (81 g) contains 9 g of protein, 6 g of fat and 22 g of carbohydrate for a total energy content of 180 kcal. A total of nine pizzas, with three pizzas per tray, were served in regular 10-min intervals for the total test meal duration of 30 min. The pizzas were selected due to their lack of crust and uniform energy and macronutrient composition. The boys had the option of choosing between the two types and were asked their preference at the screening interview.

The cooked pizzas were cut into four equal pieces and weighed before serving. After 30 min, the leftover pizza was weighed again and the end amount was subtracted from the weight before consumption to provide a measure of FI (net weight in grams). The energy consumed

47

(kcal) was calculated by converting the consumed net weight of the pizza (in grams) using information provided by the manufacturer. Caloric compensation is considered present if a satiety effect based on the sugar type of the sugars-containing solution decreases mealtime food consumption of the mini pizzas. A 100% caloric compensation indicates that the participant fully compensated for all of the calories in the preload during the test meal (102). The boys were escorted to the sensory evaluation room and seated in individual cubicles to minimize distractions. A bottle of spring water (500 ml) was given to all subjects during the test meal and was also weighed before and after to determine the net amount consumed.

Per 1 Pizza	Pepperoni (87 g)	3-Cheese (81 g)
Calories (kcal)	180.0	180.0
Fat (g)	6.0	6.0
Saturated Fat (g)	2.5	2.5
Trans Fat (g)	0.1	0.1
Cholesterol (mg)	15.0	15.0
Sodium (mg)	400.0	360.0
Carbohydrates (g)	23.0	22.0
Fiber (g)	2.0	2.0
Sugar (g)	4.0	4.0
Protein (g)	9.0	9.0

 Table 4.1 Nutrient Composition of Test Meal

4.4.2. Treatment Solutions

Each participant received 200 kcal of glucose (Grain Process Enterprises Ltd., Scarborough, ON), sucrose (Redpath Sugar Ltd., Toronto, ON, purchased at Sobeys), and HFCS-55 (donated by Casco Inc., Etobicoke, ON), or a Sucralose® control (SPLENDA, donated by Tate and Lyle, Decatur, Illinois) over the course of the four sessions. The sugars solutions consisted of 1.1 g of aspartame-sweetened, orange-flavored crystals (Sugar Free Kool-Aid, Kraft Canada Inc., Don Mills, ON) and the appropriate amount of glucose (54.6 g), sucrose (53.3 g) or HFCS-55 (64.9 g). In addition, to match for sweetness the glucose, sucrose and HFCS-55 solutions contained 70 mg, 50 mg, and 20 mg of Sucralose®, respectively. Each solution was made up to 250 ml with water. The control solution consisted of 1.1 g of aspartame-sweetened, orange-flavored crystals and 250 mg of Sucralose®. The control solution was also made up to 250 ml with water.

A test panel examined the relative sweetness of the four test solutions prior to the start of data collection. There were no differences in sweetness among the test solutions (P=0.53). Sweetness of the control, glucose, sucrose and HFCS-55 solution was 77 mm, 80 mm, 72 mm and 77 mm, respectively.

Test solutions were prepared the evening before each test session and stored in the refrigerator. Sugars solutions were served chilled in a covered opaque cup the following morning. Subjects were required to consume the solution each test day in full and in <5 min followed by 100 ml of water to minimize aftertaste.

4.4.3. Motivation to Eat Visual Analogue Scales

Subjective appetite and thirst were measured using a Motivation-to-Eat Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) at baseline (0 min), 15, 30, 45, 60 and 90 min (Appendix 8.8.1). The VAS consisted

of five questions, each followed by a 100mm horizontal line with opposing statements at either end. Subjects were asked to mark an 'X' on the line to indicate how they were feeling. Scores were calculated by measuring the distance in mm from the left end of the line to the marked 'X.' The VAS to measure subjective appetite consists of five questions:

How strong is your desire to eat? ('Very weak' to 'Very strong')

How hungry do you feel? ('Not hungry at all' to 'As hungry as I've ever felt')

How full do you feel? ('Not full at all' to 'Very full')

How much food do you think you could eat? ('Nothing at all' to 'A large amount')

How thirsty do you feel? ('Not thirsty at all' to 'As thirsty as I have ever felt')

To determine an AA score, DTE, hunger and perspective food consumption (PFC) (i.e. How much food do you think you can eat) as well as 100 minus fullness are added and divided by four (average appetite (mm) = [(desire to eat + hunger + (100 - fullness) + PFC)/4]). This VAS, as well as the calculation for AA, has been used previously (86, 102, 136, 174, 221, 222, 237, 259) and validated in children (221).

4.4.4. Subjective Physical Comfort

The physical comfort VAS was used to assess the subject's well being by asking the subject 'How well do you feel?' with a range of 'Not well at all' to 'Very well' (102, 136, 221, 222). Each participant indicated their physical comfort at baseline and at 15, 30, 45, 60 and 90 min (Appendix 8.8.2).

4.4.5. Sweetness and Pleasantness of Sugars Solutions

Sweetness and pleasantness of the test solutions were measured using VAS. Subjects rated the sweetness of the solution by answering the question "How sweet have you found the beverage?" which was anchored by 'Not sweet at all' to 'Very sweet.' The question 'How

pleasant have you found the beverage?' was anchored by 'Not at all pleasant' to 'Very pleasant.' Subjects rated the sweetness (Appendix 8.8.3) and pleasantness (Appendix 8.8.4) of the preload at <5 min (immediately after consumption of sugars-containing solution).

4.4.6. Pleasantness of the Test Meal

Pleasantness of the test meal was measured using VAS at 90 min (directly following the test meal). The question 'How pleasant have you found the food?' was anchored by 'Not at all pleasant' to 'Very pleasant' (Appendix 8.8.5).

4.4.7. Estimation of Body Composition

The sum of skinfolds at four points (triceps, biceps, suprailiac, and subscapular) was the measure used to estimate body composition and was measured with a Lange skinfold caliper (Cambridge Scientific Industries, Cambridge, Md.) and recorded to the nearest 0.1mm. The mean of three consecutive skinfold measurements was used for estimation of fat mass (FM) from an age- and sex-specific regression equation (236). Body density was first calculated (Equation 1) and then applied to another calculation to determine percent body fat (Equation 2). Skinfold measurements were completed at the screening or information session by an experienced technician.

Equation 1: Density = $1.1690 - 0.0788 * \log \text{ sum of skinfold thicknesses at 4 sites}$

Equation 2: Body fat % of weight = [(4.95/body density) - 4.5] * 100

4.4.8. Determination of Dietary Cognitive Restrained, Emotional and External Eating Behaviours

The DEBQ was used to determine the presence of dietary restrained, emotional or external eating behaviours (245). Younger subjects who may have difficulty interpreting the language of the questionnaire were given assistance to complete the survey. This questionnaire was administered at the in-person screening interview prior to the first experimental session (Appendix 8.6).

The DEBQ consists of 33 questions and has specific questions that address the three main factors: dietary cognitive restraint, emotional disinhibition and external disinhibition (245). The emotional eating category was further broken down into two dimensions, one relating to eating in response to diffuse emotions and the other dealing with eating in response to specific emotions (245). Categorization of the questions into these three main factors provides averages for each main factor, as well as an overall DEBQ score; these numbers are used to assess whether the participant has a tendency towards restrained, emotional disinhibited or external eating behaviours.

4.5. Ethical Considerations

Parents signed a consent form (Appendix 8.3) during the screening session after the child's eligibility to participate was confirmed. During the screening visit, the purpose and design of the study were explained to the children and their written assent was obtained (Appendix 8.4).

Names of subjects were kept confidential by use of a code; participant codes were based on the initials of their first and last name and the number of children already enrolled. All files were kept in a locked cabinet in-between experimental sessions. Only the researcher and research assistants had access to these documents. All files will be kept in a secure location in The Department of Applied Human Nutrition at Mount Saint Vincent University for a period of five years, after which they will be destroyed.

4.6. Data Analysis

Statistical Analysis Software (SAS) Version 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Carey, NC) was used to perform all statistical analyses. All data are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) and results were considered statistically significant at P <0.05.

Treatment effects on food and water intake, cumulative FI, FI per kg, caloric compensation and subjective measures of sweetness and pleasantness were analyzed using the PROC MIXED MODEL procedure in SAS with preload treatment as the main factor. The motivation-to-eat and thirst VAS were analyzed using a two-way MIXED MODEL with preload treatment and time as main factors. Pre-meal measures of subjective appetite are reported as absolute scores. Subjective appetite scores are also expressed as change from baseline, to account for differences in appetite at baseline. Change from baseline scores were calculated by subtracting scores at 15, 30, 45 and 60 min from baseline scores (0 min). For all PROC MIXED procedures, a post hoc analysis was performed by use of Tukey–Kramer's test, adjusted for multiple comparisons, when treatment effects or interactions were statistically significant.

Correlations on dependent measures were derived by the use of Pearson's correlation coefficients. Associations between FI and subjective measures of appetite, thirst, preload sweetness and pleasantness, test meal pleasantness, water intake, measures of body composition and DEBQ traits, were analyzed.

Subjective measures of appetite, thirst and FI were compared in subjects with a lower versus higher BMI percentile by median split. A two-factor MIXED MODEL was used to determine the effect of preload treatment and weight status on food and water intake, caloric compensation, and subjective sweetness, and a three-factor MIXED MODEL (preload treatment, weight status, and time) on subjective measures of appetite.

Caloric compensation, a measure of how well subjects reduce their FI at the test meal after the sugars solutions relative to the control intake, was calculated using the following formula as reported previously (12, 102, 136, 221, 222, 237, 259):

Caloric compensation (%) = [Control intake (kcal) – Treatment intake (kcal) / kcal in treatment preload] x100

A 100% caloric compensation score indicates that the subject reduced his FI by 200 kcal on days he was given a sugars solution (200 kcal) compared to the day he was given the Sucralose® solution. A compensation score less than 100% indicates the child was unable to fully compensate at the test meal. Chapter 5

RESULTS

5.1. Subject Characteristics

Fifteen NW boys between 9- to 14-years of age (12.2 ± 0.4 years), with a BMI percentile range between the 5th and 83^{rd} percentile, participated in the study. Baseline characteristics of the subjects, including individual and combined DEBQ scores, are listed in **Table 5.1**.

Subject Characteristics	Subjects
Age (years)	12.2 ± 0.4
BW (kg)	45.4 ± 2.4
Height (m)	1.58 ± 0.04
BMI (kg/m ²)	18.0 ± 0.4
BMI Percentile	47.7 ± 6.7
$FM (kg)^1$	8.4 ± 0.9
FM (%)	18.0 ± 1.0
$FFM (kg)^{1}$	37.0 ± 2.1
FFM (%)	82.0 ± 2.0
DEBQ Average Score ²	2.1 ± 0.1
Restraint ²	1.9 ± 0.1
Average Overall Emotional ²	1.8 ± 0.2
Diffuse Emotional ²	1.9 ± 0.1
Specific Emotional ²	1.7 ± 0.2
Overall Disinhibition ²	2.3 ± 0.1
External Disinhibtion ²	2.9 ± 0.2

 Table 5.1 Baseline Characteristics for Test Subjects

Data are means \pm SEM, n = 15. Abbreviations: BW, body weight; BMI, body mass index; BMI Percentile, body mass index percentile; FM, fat mass; FFM, fat-free mass; DEBQ, Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire. ¹FM and FFM were calculated from the sum of skinfolds at four points (236). ²Diertary restraint and disinhibition were measured using the DEBQ (245).

5.2. Food Intake

Preload treatment affected FI (kcal) at the test meal (P=0.005) (**Table 5.2**). Compared to the Sucralose® control, FI was reduced after the glucose solution, but not after sucrose or HFCS-55. Cumulative energy intake (FI + preload) was affected by preload treatment (P<0.05) (Table 5.2). Cumulative energy intake for the sucrose and HFCS-55 solution was significantly higher compared to for the control solution.

5.3. Caloric Compensation

Caloric compensation was not affected by preload treatment (P=0.07) (Table 5.2). Compensation scores after the glucose, sucrose and HFCS-55 solutions were 76%, 26% and 26%, respectively.

5.4. Water Intake

There was no effect of preload treatment on water intake (P=0.74) in NW 9- to 14-yearold boys (Table 5.2).

5.5. Sweetness of Sugars Solutions

Subjective sweetness did not differ among the four sugars solutions (P=0.80). The mean sweetness of the control, glucose, sucrose and HFCS-55 solutions were 87, 89, 90 and 90 mm, respectively (Table 5.2).

5.6. Pleasantness of Sugars Solutions

Pleasantness of the preload was affected by preload treatment (P<0.05). Glucose (P=0.04) and sucrose (P=0.01) solutions were rated more pleasant than the control solution, but none of the sugars solutions differed from each other (Table 5.2).
5.7. Physical Comfort

Absolute physical comfort was not affected by treatment (P=0.09) or time (P=0.98), and there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.99).

Change from baselines physical comfort was not affected by treatment (P=0.28) or time (P=0.95), and there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.99).

	Control	Glucose	Sucrose	HFCS-55
FI ¹ (kcal)	1127 ± 56^{a}	975 ± 58^{b}	1074 ± 81^{ab}	1075 ± 65^{ab}
FI+Preload ² (kcal)	1127 ± 56^{a}	1176 ± 58^{ab}	1274 ± 81^{b}	1275 ± 66^{b}
Caloric Compensation ³ (%)	-	76 ± 22	26 ± 22	26 ± 17
Water Intake (g)	251 ± 45	284 ± 38	260 ± 40	255 ± 41
Sweetness (mm)	87 ± 3	89 ± 3	90 ± 3	90 ± 3
Preload Pleasantness (mm)	57 ± 8^{a}	71 ± 6^{b}	73 ± 7^{b}	68 ± 7^{ab}

Table 5.2 Effect of Sugars Solutions on Food and Water Intake, Sweetness, Preload

 Pleasantness, Physical Comfort and Caloric Compensation in Normal Weight Boys

Treatment effects were analyzed using the PROC MIXED procedure with preload treatment as the main factor. Abbreviation: HFCS-55, high-fructose corn syrup-55; FI, food intake. Data are means \pm SEM; n = 15. Means in a row with different letters differ at P<0.05 (Tukey's Test). ¹Pizza intake at test meal. ²Cumulative energy intake from pizza meal and the preload treatments (Control, 0 kcal; Glucose, 200 kcal; Sucrose, 200 kcal; HFCS-55, 200 kcal). ³Caloric Compensation (%) = control FI (kcal) – treatment meal (kcal)/preload (kcal) x 100.

5.8. Motivation to Eat Visual Analogue Scales

5.8.1. Average Appetite

Absolute AA scores were affected by preload treatment (P<0.05) and time (P<0.0001), but there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.78). Average appetite scores were significantly higher after HFCS-55 compared to glucose. Average appetite scores increased over time irrespective of the preload treatment (**Figure 5.1a**).

Change from baseline AA scores were affected by preload treatment (P<0.001) and time (P<0.0001), but there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.89). Change in AA scores was significantly higher after sucrose compared to all the other test solutions (**Figure 5.2a**).

5.8.2. Desire to Eat

Absolute DTE scores were not affected by treatment (P=0.08), but were affected by time (P<0.0001), and there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.45). Scores for DTE increased over time irrespective of treatment (**Figure 5.1b**).

Change from baseline scores for DTE were affected by preload treatment (P<0.001) and time (P<0.0001), but there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.75). Change in DTE scores was significantly higher after sucrose compared to all the other test solutions (**Figure 5.2b**).

5.8.3. Hunger

Absolute hunger scores were affected by treatment (P<0.01) and time (P<0.0001), but there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.94). Absolute scores for hunger were significantly higher following the HFCS-55 solution in comparison to the glucose treatment. Hunger scores increased over time irrespective of treatment (**Figure 5.1c**).

Hunger scores expressed as the change from baseline were affected by preload treatment (P<0.05) and time (P<0.0001), but there was no interaction between the two (P=0.93). Change in

hunger scores was significantly higher after sucrose compared to after the control solution (Figure 5.2c).

5.8.4. Fullness

Absolute fullness scores were affected by time (P<0.0001), but not by preload treatment (P=0.18) or by a treatment x time interaction (P=0.87). Fullness scores decreased over time irrespective of treatment (**Figure 5.1d**).

Change from baseline fullness scores were affected by preload treatment (P<0.05) and time (P<0.01), but there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.96). Change in fullness scores was significantly higher after sucrose compared to HFCS-55. Change from baseline fullness scores decreased over time irrespective of treatment (**Figure 5.2d**).

5.8.5. Prospective Food Consumption

Absolute prospective food consumption (PFC) was not affected by treatment (P=0.07), but was by time (P<0.0001), and there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.91). Absolute PFC scores increased over time irrespective of treatment (**Figure 5.1e**).

Change from baseline scores for PFC was affected by treatment (P<0.01) and time (P<0.0001), but there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.97). Change in PFC scores was significantly higher after sucrose compared to all the other test solutions (**Figure 5.2e**).

5.8.6. Thirst

Absolute thirst was affected by preload treatment (P<0.05) and time (P<0.0001), but there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.74). Thirst was highest after the glucose solution compared to HFCS-55. Absolute thirst scores increased overall irrespective of the treatment after decreasing first at 15 min (**Figure 5.1f**). Thirst scores expressed as change from baseline were affected by treatment (P<0.0001) and time (P<0.05), but there was no treatment x time interaction (P=0.98). Change in thirst scores was significantly lower for glucose and HFCS-55 compared to sucrose. Thirst scores expressed as the change from baseline first decreased at 15 min following the solutions, and then increased over time irrespective of treatment but remained below baseline (**Figure 5.2f**).



Figure 5.1 Subjective Average Appetite 60 Min After Sugars Solutions

Subjective average appetite ratings for a) average appetite, b) desire to eat, c) hunger, d) fullness and e) prospective food consumption at 0, 15, 30, 45 and 60 min. Values are means, n = 15. Average and individual appetite scores changed over time.



Figure 5.2 Change from Baseline Subjective Average Appetite 60 Min After Sugars Solutions

Change from baseline subjective average appetite ratings for a) average appetite, b) desire to eat, c) hunger, d) fullness and e) prospective food consumption at 0, 15, 30, 45 and 60 min. Values are means, n = 15. Average and individual appetite scores changed over time.

5.9. Associations With Food Intake

5.9.1. Body Composition

Food intake after the control preload positively correlated with BW (r=0.69, P=0.005). Fat mass positively correlated with FI following the control (r=0.66, P=0.008), sucrose (r=0.54, P=0.039) and HFCS-55 (r=0.75, P=0.001) solutions. Furthermore, caloric compensation did not correlate with any measures of body composition (**Table 5.3**).

	BW	FM	FFM
FI Control	0.68906**	0.65874**	0.49650
FI Glucose	0.37890	0.48980	0.21689
CC Glucose	0.36826	0.18639	0.33824
FI Sucrose	0.49096	0.53625*	0.32427
CC Sucrose	-0.03010	-0.15348	0.03328
FI HFCS-55	0.49639	0.74668**	0.23771
CC HFCS-55	0.20046	-0.34014	0.37886

Table 5.3 Associations Between Body Composition, Food Intake and Caloric Compensation

Pearson correlation coefficients; n=15. Abbreviations: BW, body weight; FM, fat mass; FFM, fat-free mass; FI, food intake; HFCS-55, high-fructose corn syrup-55; CC, caloric compensation.*P<0.05, **P<0.01.

5.9.2. Preload Kcal per Kilogram Body Weight

Energy content of the preload (kcal) expressed per kg of BW negatively correlated with FI. This relationship was more evident for sucrose (r=-0.59, P=0.02) and HFCS-55 (r= -0.56, P=0.03) compared to glucose (r=-0.45, P=0.09) (**Figure 5.3**).



Figure 5.3 Associations Between Preload Kcal Per Kilogram Body Weight and Food Intake

Energy content of the preload expressed as per kg BW correlated with food intake following the three caloric solutions. Abbreviations: HFCS-55, high-fructose corn syrup-55; Kg, kilogram; BW, body weight.

5.9.3. Average Appetite

Average appetite scores did not strongly correlate with FI at any of the measurement intervals following the preload treatments (**Table 5.4**).

Time	Control	Glucose	Sucrose	HFCS
0	-0.40294	0.29122	-0.24677	-0.00570
15	-0.37323	0.47053	-0.11951	0.00671
30	-0.22528	0.40783	-0.21341	-0.05082
45	-0.34463	0.39476	-0.20075	0.06464
60	-0.17706	0.32428	-0.20043	-0.04929

Table 5.4 Associations Between Absolute Average Appetite and Food Intake

Pearson correlation coefficients; n=15. Abbreviations: HFCS, high-fructose corn syrup. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01.

5.9.4. Sweetness and Pleasantness of the Sugars Solutions

Subjective sweetness of the preload did not correlate with FI after the sucrose (P=0.11), HFCS-55 (P=0.52), glucose (P=0.66) or control (P=0.10) solutions (**Table 5.5**).

Pleasantness of the glucose solution positively correlated with FI at the test meal (r = 0.66, P = 0.01). There were no significant associations between pleasantness of the other test treatments and FI (Table 5.5).

	Control	Glucose	Sucrose	HFCS-55
Sweetness	0.44036;	-0.12298;	-0.42700;	-0.18046;
	P=0.10	P=0.66	P=0.11	P=0.52
Pleasantness	0.31895;	0.65760;	0.37787;	0.27292;
	P=0.25	P=0.01*	P=0.16	P=0.33

Table 5.5 Associations Between Sweetness and Pleasantness with Food Intake at the Test Meal

Pearson correlation coefficients; n=15. Abbreviations: HFCS-55, high-fructose corn syrup-55. *P<0.05.

5.10. Subject Characteristics by BMI Percentile

Participants were grouped into two groups based on BMI percentile using a median split, thus allowing for comparison of weight status within the NW range. When based on BMI percentile, eight boys (12.8 ± 0.5 years) with a BMI between the 5th and 49th percentile (17.1 ± 0.6 kg/m²) and seven boys (11.5 ± 0.5 yrs) with a BMI between the 52nd and 83rd percentile ($19.0 \pm 0.3 \ 0.4$ kg/m²) were included in this study. Baseline characteristics of participants based on BMI percentile are listed in **Table 5.6**.

Subject	$BMI < 50^{th}$ Percentile	$BMI > 50^{th} Percentile$		
Characteristics				
Age (years)	12.8 ± 0.5	11.5 ± 0.5		
BW (kg)	44.7 ± 4.2	46.0 ± 2.5		
Height (m)	1.60 ± 0.06	1.55 ± 0.04		
BMI (kg/m ²)	17.1 ± 0.6	$19.0 \pm 0.3^{*}$		
BMI Percentile	28.9 ± 6.8	$69.1 \pm 4.3^{**}$		
$FM (kg)^{1}$	7.0 ± 0.8	9.9 ± 1.7		
FM (%)	16 ± 1.0	21 ± 2.0		
$FFM (kg)^{1}$	37.7 ± 3.7	36.1 ± 1.9		
FFM (%)	84 ± 1.0	79 ± 1.0		
DEBQ Average Score ²	2.1 ± 0.1	2.2 ± 0.2		
Restraint ²	1.7 ± 0.2	2.1 ± 0.2		
Average Overall Emotional ²	1.7 ± 0.2	1.9 ± 0.3		
Diffuse Emotional ²	1.8 ± 0.2	1.9 ± 0.2		
Specific Emotional ²	1.6 ± 0.2	1.9 ± 0.3		
Overall Disinhibition ²	2.2 ± 0.2	2.3 ± 0.2		
External Disinhibtion ²	3.0 ± 0.2	2.8 ± 0.2		

Table 5.6 Baseline Characteristics for Test Subjects by BMI Percentile

Data are means \pm SEM, n = 8 in BMI < 50th percentile group and n = 7 in BMI > 50th percentile group. Abbreviations: BW, body weight; BMI, body mass index; BMI Percentile, body mass index percentile; FM, fat mass; FFM, fat-free mass; DEBQ, Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire. ¹FM and FFM were calculated from the sum of skinfolds at four points (236). ²Diertary restraint and disinhibition were measured using the DEBQ (245). Significantly different by student's unpaired t-test at *P<0.05, **P<0.01.

5.11. Food Intake by BMI Percentile

When comparing the groups based on BMI percentile, both preload treatment (P<0.01) and weight status group (P<0.01) affected FI, but there was no treatment x group interaction (P=0.17). Boys with a BMI below the 50th percentile (between the 5th and 49th) reduced their FI at the test meal only after glucose in comparison to the control. Boys with a higher BMI percentile did not suppress FI after any of the sugars solutions and consistently consumed higher kcal (**Table 5.7**).

Cumulative FI (FI + preload) was affected by preload treatment (P<0.01) and weight status (P<0.01), but there was no treatment x group interaction (P=0.12). Boys with a higher BMI percentile had higher cumulative FI after sucrose compared to the control (Table 5.7).

5.12. Caloric Compensation by BMI Percentile

Preload treatment (P=0.06), nor weight status (P=0.14), affected caloric compensation and there was no treatment x group interaction (P=0.16) (Table 5.7).

5.13. Water Intake by BMI Percentile

Preload treatment (P=0.78), nor weight status (P=0.91), affected water intake, and there was no treatment x group interaction (P=0.14) (Table 5.7).

5.14. Sweetness of Sugars Solutions by BMI Percentile

Preload treatment (P=0.81), nor weight status (P=0.95), affected subjective sweetness of the sugars solutions, and there was no treatment x group interaction (P=0.21) (Table 5.7).

Table 5.7 Effect of Sugars Solutions on Food and Water Intake, Sweetness and Caloric Compensation in Normal Weight Boys by BMI

 Percentile

	BMI < 50 th Percentile			BMI > 50 th Percentile				
	Control	Glucose	Sucrose	HFCS-55	Control	Glucose	Sucrose	HFCS-55
FI ¹ (kcal)	1021 ± 83	827 ± 81	878 ± 110	941 ± 85	1248 ± 44	1107 ± 77	1299 ± 34	1227 ± 62
FI+Preload ² (kcal)	1021 ± 83	1061 ± 66	1078 ± 110	1141 ± 85	1248 ± 44	1307 ± 77	1499 ± 34	1427 ± 62
Caloric Compensation ³ (%)	-	80 ± 29	72 ± 26	40 ± 15	-	70 ± 37	-25 ± 26	10 ± 31
Water Intake (g)	216 ± 56	315 ± 56	265 ± 55	269 ± 43	291 ± 73	248 ± 52	255 ± 63	240 ± 76
Sweetness (mm)	85 ± 4	91 ± 3	93 ± 3	88 ± 4	90 ± 4	86 ± 5	84 ± 6	93 ± 4

Treatment effects were analyzed using a two-way PROC MIXED procedure with preload treatment and weight status as the main factors. Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; HFCS-55, high-fructose corn syrup-55; FI, food intake. Data are means \pm SEM; n = 8 in BMI < 50th percentile group, n = 7 in BMI > 50th percentile group. ¹Pizza intake at test meal. ²Cumulative energy intake from pizza meal and the preload treatments (Control, 0 kcal; Glucose, 200 kcal; Sucrose, 200 kcal; HFCS, 200 kcal). ³Caloric Compensation (%) = control meal (kcal) – treatment meal (kcal)/preload (kcal) x 100.

5.15. Motivation to Eat Visual Analogue Scales by BMI Percentile

5.15.1. Average Appetite

Change from baseline AA scores were affected by treatment (P<0.001) and time (P<0.0001), but not weight status (P=0.17), and there was no treatment x group x time (P=0.48), treatment x group (P=0.94), treatment x time (P=0.86) or time x group (P=0.43) interaction. Average appetite reported as the change from baseline was significantly higher after sucrose compared to after the control, glucose and HFCS-55 solutions. Change from baseline AA scores also increased over time irrespective of the preload solution (**Figure 5.4a**).

5.15.2. Desire to Eat

Change from baseline DTE scores were affected by treatment (P<0.001) and time (P<0.0001), but not weight status (P=0.09), and there was no treatment x group x time (P=0.84), treatment x group (P=0.08), treatment x time (P=0.70) or time x group (P=0.72) interaction. Changes in DTE scores were significantly higher after the sucrose solution compared to the control, glucose and HFCS-55 solutions. Change from baseline DTE scores also increased over time irrespective of preload treatment (**Figure 5.4b**).

5.15.3. Hunger

Change from baseline scores for hunger were affected by treatment (P<0.05) and time (P<0.0001), but not weight status (P=0.12), and there was no treatment x group x time (P=0.65), treatment x group (P=0.15), treatment x time (P=0.92) or time x group (P=0.61) interaction. Change in hunger scores were significantly higher after sucrose compared to after the control. Change from baseline hunger scores increased over time for all treatments (**Figure 5.4c**).

5.15.4. Fullness

Change from baseline scores for fullness were affected by treatment (P<0.05) and time (P<0.001), but not weight status (P=0.42), and there was no treatment x group x time (P=0.56), treatment x group (P=0.06), treatment x time (P=0.96) or time x group (P=0.61) interaction. Change in fullness scores were significantly higher after sucrose solution compared to after HFCS-55. Change from baseline fullness scores decreased over time irrespective of treatment (**Figure 5.4d**).

5.15.5. Prospective Food Consumption

Change from baseline PFC scores were affected by treatment (P<0.01) and time (P<0.0001), but not weight status (P=0.30), and there was no treatment x group x time (P=0.65), treatment x group (P=0.13), treatment x time (P=0.96) or time x group (P=0.43) interaction. Change from baseline scores for PFC were significantly higher after sucrose compared to after the other sugars solutions (**Figure 5.4e**).

5.15.6. Thirst

Change from baseline thirst scores were affected by treatment (P<0.001), time (P<0.05) and weight status (P<0.05), but there was no treatment x group x time (P=0.98) interaction. Although there was a treatment x group (P<0.01) interaction, there was no treatment x time (P=0.98) or time x group (P=0.09) interaction. Changes in thirst scores were significantly lower after sucrose compared to glucose and HFCS-55. Change from baseline thirst scores were significantly decreased for boys with a lower BMI compared to boys with a higher BMI. Thirst scores for boys with a lower BMI decreased more significantly following HFCS-55 compared to after all of the solutions for boys with a higher BMI. Thirst scores in boys with a lower BMI also decreased more significantly following the HFCS-55 preload in comparison to following the glucose and sucrose preload. Boys with a lower BMI were less thirsty after the control solution compared to sucrose (**Figure 5.4f**).



Figure 5.4 Change from Baseline Subjective Average Appetite 60 Min After Sugars Solutions by BMI Percentile

Change from baseline subjective average appetite ratings for a) average appetite, b) desire to eat, c) hunger, d) fullness and e) prospective food consumption at 0, 15, 30, 45 and 60 min. Values are means, n = 8 in BMI < 50th percentile group, n = 7 in BMI > 50th percentile group. Average and individual appetite scores changed over time.

Chapter 6

DISCUSSION

6.1. General Discussion

The results of this study support the hypothesis that sugars composition determines the effect on FI in children and that glucose increases mealtime satiation and decreases FI to a greater extent than after other sugars solutions in NW 9- to 14-year-old boys. Only glucose resulted in a statistically significant decrease in FI compared to the Sucralose® control. Cumulative FI (preload + meal) after sucrose and HFCS-55 was higher than after the control, suggesting that these sugars do not stimulate FI regulatory systems as well as glucose alone.

The effect of glucose on FI is consistent with previous reports in children (136) and adults (11, 12). Glucose was expected to have the strongest effect on FI for two reasons. First, glucose increases BG concentration more than sucrose or HFCS, which contributes to satiety (49, 59). Food intake following sugars solutions is inversely related to the effect of the sugars on BG (12, 200). It is hypothesized that foods that break down into glucose rapidly during digestion increase satiety (11). Second, the effect of glucose on FI suppression is related to the increased response of insulin secretion and decrease in plasma levels of ghrelin shown after solutions with a higher glucose: fructose ratio (12, 260, 261). This overall profile of increased elevations in BG (199, 200) and insulin (152) as a result of glucose consumption increases satiety (262). There is uncertainty, however, whether glucose or insulin is the primary signal regulating FI. Insulin is the likely regulator of FI based on euglycemic, hyperinsulinemic clamp studies showing that insulin, but not BG, was the primary regulator of FI (263). Twenty-four-hour endocrine and metabolic profiles after sugars solutions show larger responses in glucose and insulin induced by glucose compared to sucrose and HFCS, which are intermediate between the higher responses of glucose and lower responses after fructose (261). The intermediate responses in glucose and insulin induced by sucrose and HFCS-55 may help explain the weaker effect of these two sugars on FI compared to glucose. It

is unknown if the incretin hormones contribute to the stronger effect of glucose on FI as there is little research comparing the effect of various sugars on plasma levels of GIP and GLP-1. One study comparing the effect of oral glucose and fructose on FI concluded that although both sugars increase plasma GLP-1, the rise is greater after glucose (201). However, since there was no difference in FI following equicaloric preloads of glucose and fructose in their study, it was concluded that GLP-1 does not play the major role in regulating FI after all sugars (201).

Evidence in support of the hypothesis that HFCS causes overeating by disproportionally affecting FI compared to sucrose (8) is not supported. Mean FI following sucrose and HFCS-55 were similar in NW 9- to 14-year-old boys (1074 kcal vs. 1075 kcal, respectively). These results are similar to previous findings in adults where sucrose and HFCS-55 had similar effects on FI at a subsequent meal (12, 13, 115). A study by Akhavan and Anderson (12) demonstrated that sucrose and HFCS-55, as well as sucrose and G50:F50, had similar effects on FI in men. The effect of the solution on FI was dependent on the glucose: fructose ratio; a greater suppression of FI and increased caloric compensation was associated with an increased ratio of glucose in solution (12). Similar FI between sucrose and HFCS-55 was expected on the basis of their similar ratio of glucose: fructose (63) and their similar effect on BG and insulin secretion (12). Furthermore, sucrose and HFCS-55 are of similar relative sweetness (64, 65).

The weaker effect of sucrose and HFCS-55 relative to glucose may also be explained by use of a fixed dose (200 kcal) of sugars in the test solutions. There was an inverse association between the energy content of the sucrose and HFCS-55 preloads and subsequent FI. The boys at the higher end of the normal range received a lower dose relative to their BW, which resulted in greater FI after sucrose and HFCS-55. The bigger the boy, the lower the dose relative to BW and therefore the more they ate. In comparison, there was no association between the energy content of the glucose

preload, expressed as kcal/kg BW and subsequent FI. This suggests that the dose was less of a factor after glucose compared to after sucrose and HFCS-55, findings which are consistent with our FI data where only glucose resulted in a statistically significant decrease compared to the Sucralose® control. The larger incretin response to glucose may have overridden the weaker effect of BW based on the lack of statistical significance of BW/kg and FI after glucose compared with the other sugars.

It has been previously observed that FM inversely associates with FI and caloric compensation in children (104, 136, 264). To assess the impact of body composition within the NW range, subjects were grouped based on BMI percentile using a median split to determine if body composition was a factor of FI for boys within the normal range. When comparing boys with a BMI between the 5th and 49th percentile (n=8) to those with a BMI between the 52nd and 83rd percentile (n=7), treatment (P<0.01) and weight status (P<0.01) affected FI, but not caloric compensation, and there was no treatment x group interaction. When groups were individually assessed using a onefactor model, treatment affected FI in boys with a lower BMI (P<0.05) but not those with a BMI between the 52nd and 83rd percentile. Boys with a lower BMI ate significantly less after glucose compared to the control, whereas boys with a higher BMI ate more and did not compensate for the caloric content of the sugars solutions. Furthermore, with the exception of the glucose preload, FM positively associated with FI following the other solutions (r=0.66, r=0.54 and r=0.75 for the control, sucrose and HFCS-55 solutions, respectively). It is unknown how strongly body composition, and specifically FM, affected FI in this study because the preloads were not provided on a BW basis. As a result, although a larger body size resulted in a greater subsequent FI, it in unknown whether body composition or dose is the main driving factor affecting FI among subjects. However, differences in FI between the two groups support previous research suggesting that differences in body composition affects physiological regulation of FI, with increased FM decreasing an individual's sensitivity to satiety hormones (136).

Caloric compensation, a measure of FI regulation to preload consumed energy, did not differ between sugars solutions or group. Caloric compensation scores for the glucose, sucrose and HFCS-55 preloads were 76%, 26% and 26%, respectively. In a previous study investigating the effect of 180 kcal of sucrose 25 min later in 9 and 10 year-old children, average compensation was 68% after sucrose (265). The weaker effect in older kids in the current study may be due to age, with compensation scores decreasing from childhood into adolescence, or use of a caloric sweetener as the control instead of water. Sweetness alone has been shown to decrease FI in previous studies in children (9, 104) and adults (119). When caloric compensation scores were compared based on BMI percentile, there was a trend (P=0.16) for lower compensation scores in boys with a higher BMI percentile compared to children in the lower BMI percentile range. Caloric compensation scores were significantly lower after sucrose compared to glucose, adding to the notion that treatment dose was a factor in the physiological response to the sugars solutions.

Power analysis indicates that a sample size of 38 and 29 subjects are needed to detect a significant difference in caloric compensation between glucose and sucrose or HFCS-55, respectively, with a power of 0.80. Although a larger sample size may have shown an effect on caloric compensation for the calories in the sugars solutions, the sample size of this study (n=15) was adequately powered to detect an effect of sugars on FI compared to the sweetened control. In addition, it is not uncommon for studies to use a smaller sample size to investigate the effect of macronutrients on FI using a preload design (11, 12, 96).

The weaker effect on FI after sucrose and HFCS-55 may also be explained by matching the solutions for sweetness. It has been proposed that sweet taste alone contributes to the suppression of

86

hunger and increased feelings of fullness (266) and satiety in children (104) and adults (9, 119). It was reported in children that aspartame-sweetened drinks suppress FI when compared with the effects of a water control (104). Therefore, use of a water control instead of a Sucralose® control in this study may have resulted in greater FI at the test meal after the control solution, increasing the effect of all sugars on the suppression of FI. Other reports, however, suggest that sweetness increases FI (127-129) or is not a factor affecting FI (12, 127). For example, a study by Akhavan et al. (12) did not find a significant relationship between solutions matched for sweetness and FI at a subsequent meal. In the present study, subjective sweetness did not differ among the four sugars solutions and because sweetness did not correlate with FI at the test meal, sweetness may not have been the major determinant of FI. However, it is important to note that all four sugars solutions in this study were rated as quite sweet compared to previous reports of SSB. For example, a study investigating the effect of commercial beverages on FI found average ratings of sweetness for cola and fruit drink to be 55.9 and 78.1 mm, respectively (267). At present, the role of sweetness on FI regulation is unclear as there is no agreement on whether sweetness stimulates or suppresses FI. It is therefore unknown how strongly sweetness affected FI in our study.

Previous research shows that enhancing the pleasantness of a food increases its intake within the meal (268, 269). As a result, pleasantness of the test meal and sugars solutions were measured by asking, 'How pleasant have you found the food/preload?' Pleasantness of the test meal was not affected by preload solution (P=0.18) and there was no association between pleasantness of the test meal and FI (r=0.04). Furthermore, although the glucose and sucrose solutions were rated as more pleasant than the control, only pleasantness of the glucose solution positively correlated with FI at the test meal. It is therefore unlikely that pleasantness of the test meal or preload had an effect on FI in this study because glucose was rated as the most pleasant and had the lowest FI.

Subjective appetite was measured at baseline (0 min) and again at 15, 30, 45, 60 and 90 min. Preload solution, but not weight status, affected absolute AA and AA expressed as the change from baseline. Although AA scores were significantly greater following the HFCS-55 solution in comparison to the glucose solution (P < 0.05), changes in AA from baseline were significantly higher following the sucrose solution compared to the other three treatments (P<0.01). This suggests that sucrose and HFCS-55 differ in their effect on subjective measures of appetite, but not FI. Differences in AA reported as change from baseline after sucrose and HFCS-55 could be related to differences in osmolality. In animals, hyperosmolality stimulates leptin secretion (270), inhibits gastric emptying (271) and decreases FI (271, 272). Therefore, the enhanced gastric emptying associated with a lower osmolality could explain why changes in AA from baseline were significantly higher after sucrose. However, on days when children consumed the sucrose preload they arrived to the laboratory with lower subjective motivation-to-eat, which is the more likely explanation for a greater increase in AA after sucrose. When AA was assessed based on BMI percentile, weight status was not a factor (P=0.17), which suggests it is unlikely the boys with a higher BMI were driving this effect on appetite. Although subjects did not consistently report a decrease in subjective appetite following preload consumption, it appears they were able to quantify their appetite as consumption of the test meal decreased DTE, hunger and PFC and increased fullness, which has been reported by us in previous studies (86, 136).

Similar to AA, thirst was also measured at baseline and again at regular intervals throughout the study. Average thirst decreased at 15 min for all sugars, which suggests that all four solutions immediately quenched thirst. However, change in thirst scores were significantly lower after glucose and HFCS-55 compared to sucrose. Furthermore, although average thirst scores gradually increased after the initial decrease at 15 min, they remained decreased from baseline. The DEBQ was used in this study to determine the presence of restrained, emotional or external eating behaviours, and their effect on FI (251, 256, 257). With the exception of one occasion, participant scores for the DEBQ did not correlate with FI or caloric compensation following the sugars solutions. Participants were unrestrained eaters, and measures of restraint did not correlate with FI. As a result, it is unlikely that restrained, emotional or external eating behaviours were major factors affecting FI in this study, as has been reported in previous studies in girls (252) and women (249).

The main finding of the present study is that glucose, in comparison to sucrose and HFCS-55, produces greater physiological effects on FI in NW 9- to 14-year-old boys. Although HFCS-55 did not significantly suppress FI compared to the control, it did not differ on its effect on FI, therefore concluding that HFCS-55 is not uniquely responsible for overeating despite a widely held belief that HFCS disproportionally affects FI compared to other sugars (8). In addition, previous studies show that use of HFCS in soft drinks results in decreased FI in both NW and OB children (267, 273). Consistent with our hypothesis, sucrose and HFCS-55 had similar effects on FI in NW boys, which can be related to their similar ratio of glucose: fructose, sweetness and endocrine and metabolic profile. Why FI was not significantly suppressed following the sucrose and HFCS-55 solutions requires further investigation, but could be a result of using a fixed dose and/or matching the solutions for sweetness. The main factor responsible for suppressing subsequent FI was sugars composition, but weight status was also a factor when subjects were grouped by BMI percentile. Therefore, use of glucose alone as the principal sweetener in beverages may be part of the solution to control appetite, reduce FI and promote healthier body weights in children.

6.2. Conclusion

In conclusion, the short-term regulation of FI in NW 9- to 14-year-old boys was affected by sugars source, treatment dose and body composition.

6.3. Methods and Limitations

Although the primary contribution of this thesis is support for the hypothesis that glucose decreases FI to a greater extent than sucrose and HFCS-55, the research contributed by advancing understanding of the nutritional and physiological determinants of childhood obesity and, specifically, the effect of sugars composition.

The use of visual analogue scales (VAS) as a measure of subjective appetite in children has received little investigation. Thirst scores decreased after consumption of the sugars solutions, therefore suggesting subjects were able to express their subjective thirst in a quantifiable manner. Furthermore, subjective appetite of all subjects decreased after the test meal, thus suggesting children understand and can quantify their subjective appetite through the use of VAS, but may also be an indication of the weaker effect of liquid to decrease subjective appetite compared to solid foods. However, subjective appetite scores did not consistently correlate with FI at the test meal.

This research focused on the effect of sugars solutions on FI in normal-weight boys, but to fully understand the interaction between sugars and physiological regulation of FI, the role of gender and BW must be addressed. Therefore, girls and subjects who are OW or OB should be included in future research. Additionally, this research used a fixed dose of 50g available carbohydrate for each sugars treatment. Subjects with a higher BMI percentile had higher FI at the test meal. This could be a result of using a fixed dose if 50g was less effective in heavier subjects. Future studies investigating the effect of sugar composition in children should give treatments based on gram per kilogram BW.

6.4. Future Directions

This research provides evidence for the role of physiological mechanisms on short-term FI and appetite regulation in NW 9- to 14-year-old boys, which differs depending on sugars and body composition. However, the effect of sugar composition and satiety hormones on FI regulation in children requires further investigation. The following issues should be examined in future studies:

1) Is sex a factor affecting short-term FI regulation in children?

Results from this study demonstrate that 9- to 14-year-old boys respond differently to treatments based on their composition. However, to fully understand the interaction between sugars and physiological regulation of FI, the role of gender should be explored. Girls around this age are entering the most active growth stage and are experiencing menarche, both of which may impact FI regulation. Future investigations should include girl subjects in order to determine whether gender has an impact on short-term FI in children.

2) Is body weight a factor affecting short-term FI regulation in children?

Although all subjects included in this study were NW, FI was affected by weight status when boys were grouped based on BMI percentile. Results from previous studies on FI suggest NW and OW or OB subjects respond differently to treatments. As a result, it is recommended future studies further investigate the role of body fatness on short-term regulation and subsequent FI in children.

3) What are the physiological mechanisms regulating short-term FI in children?

Although studies investigating physiological mechanisms in the regulation of short-term FI have been done in adults, little investigation exists in children. The measurement of satiety hormones in response to sugar composition would be an important first step to help develop an understanding of appetite control in children. This information will assist us in understanding how varying sugar composition affects appetite and FI.

4) Does sweetness affect short-term FI regulation in children?

Since all of the sugars solutions were matched for sweetness, this study left unknown the role of sweetness in short-term FI regulation in boys. This is of interest because previous studies on sweetness and FI have produced contrasting results. Therefore, it remains to be determined whether the hedonic value of sugars or the physiologic features is a stronger determinant of FI in children. Future studies should investigate the role of sweetness on short-term FI by using preload solutions of varying sweetness.

Chapter 7

REFERENCES

- 1. Whitaker RC, Wright JA, Pepe MS, Seidel KD, Dietz WH. Predicting obesity in young adulthood from childhood and parental obesity. N Engl J Med. 1997 Sep 25;337:869-73.
- 2. Shields M. Measured obesity: overweight Canadian children and adolescents: Statistics Canada.
- 3. Must A, Strauss RS. Risks and consequences of childhood and adolescent obesity. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1999 Mar;23 Suppl 2:S2-11.
- 4. Welsh JA, Cogswell ME, Rogers S, Rockett H, Mei Z, Grummer-Strawn LM. Overweight among low-income preschool children associated with the consumption of sweet drinks: Missouri, 1999-2002. Pediatrics. 2005 Feb;115:e223-9.
- 5. Ludwig DS, Peterson KE, Gortmaker SL. Relation between consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks and childhood obesity: a prospective, observational analysis. Lancet. 2001 Feb 17;357:505-8.
- 6. Collison KS, Zaidi MZ, Subhani SN, Al-Rubeaan K, Shoukri M, Al-Mohanna FA. Sugarsweetened carbonated beverage consumption correlates with BMI, waist circumference, and poor dietary choices in school children. BMC Public Health.10:234.
- 7. Anderson GH. Much ado about high-fructose corn syrup in beverages: the meat of the matter. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007 Dec;86:1577-8.
- 8. Bray GA, Nielsen SJ, Popkin BM. Consumption of high-fructose corn syrup in beverages may play a role in the epidemic of obesity. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004 Apr;79:537-43.
- 9. Canty DJ, Chan MM. Effects of consumption of caloric vs noncaloric sweet drinks on indices of hunger and food consumption in normal adults. Am J Clin Nutr. 1991 May;53:1159-64.
- 10. Anderson GH. Sugars-containing beverages and post-prandial satiety and food intake. International Journal of Obesity. 2006;30:S52-S9.
- 11. Anderson GH, Catherine NL, Woodend DM, Wolever TM. Inverse association between the effect of carbohydrates on blood glucose and subsequent short-term food intake in young men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002 Nov;76:1023-30.
- Akhavan T, Anderson GH. Effects of glucose-to-fructose ratios in solutions on subjective satiety, food intake, and satiety hormones in young men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007 Nov;86:1354-63.
- 13. Soenen S, Westerterp-Plantenga MS. No differences in satiety or energy intake after high-fructose corn syrup, sucrose, or milk preloads. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007 Dec;86:1586-94.
- 14. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser. 2000;894:i-xii, 1-253.
- 15. Anis A, Zhang W. Obesity and overweight in Canada: an updated cost-of- illness study. Obesity Reviews. 2009;5.
- 16. Cole TJ, Flegal KM, Nicholls D, Jackson AA. Body mass index cut offs to define thinness in children and adolescents: international survey. BMJ. 2007 Jul 28;335:194.
- 17. Poskitt EM. Defining childhood obesity: the relative body mass index (BMI). European Childhood Obesity group. Acta Paediatr. 1995 Aug;84:961-3.
- Freedman DS, Wang J, Maynard LM, Thornton JC, Mei Z, Pierson RN, Dietz WH, Horlick M. Relation of BMI to fat and fat-free mass among children and adolescents. Int J Obes (Lond). 2005 Jan;29:1-8.
- 19. Lindsay RS, Hanson RL, Roumain J, Ravussin E, Knowler WC, Tataranni PA. Body mass index as a measure of adiposity in children and adolescents: relationship to adiposity by dual energy x-ray absorptiometry and to cardiovascular risk factors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001 Sep;86:4061-7.

- 20. Katzmarzyk P, Janssen I, Morrison K, Tremblay M. Classification of Overweight and Obesity in Children and Adolescents. 2006.
- 21. Diagnosis of obesity: use of growth charts for assessing and monitoring growth in Canadian children. Can J Diet Pract Res. 2004.
- 22. Lobstein T, Baur L, Uauy R. Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health. Obes Rev. 2004 May;5 Suppl 1:4-104.
- 23. Strauss RS. Childhood obesity and self-esteem. Pediatrics. 2000 Jan;105:e15.
- 24. Braet C, Mervielde I, Vandereycken W. Psychological aspects of childhood obesity: a controlled study in a clinical and nonclinical sample. J Pediatr Psychol. 1997 Feb;22:59-71.
- Despres JP, Moorjani S, Lupien PJ, Tremblay A, Nadeau A, Bouchard C. Genetic aspects of susceptibility to obesity and related dyslipidemias. Mol Cell Biochem. 1992 Aug 18;113:151-69.
- 26. Maes HH, Neale MC, Eaves LJ. Genetic and environmental factors in relative body weight and human adiposity. Behav Genet. 1997 Jul;27:325-51.
- 27. Bouchard C. Current understanding of the etiology of obesity: genetic and nongenetic factors. Am J Clin Nutr. 1991 Jun;53:1561S-5S.
- 28. Bouchard C, Tremblay A. Genetic effects in human energy expenditure components. Int J Obes. 1990;14 Suppl 1:49-55; discussion -8.
- 29. Hills AP, King NA, Armstrong TP. The contribution of physical activity and sedentary behaviours to the growth and development of children and adolescents: implications for overweight and obesity. Sports Med. 2007;37:533-45.
- 30. Rolls BJ, Morris EL, Roe LS. Portion size of food affects energy intake in normal-weight and overweight men and women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002 Dec;76:1207-13.
- 31. Fisher J, Rolls B, Birch L. Children's bite size and intake of an entree are greater with larger portions than with age-appropriate or self-selected portions. Am J Clin Nutr. 2003;77:1164-70.
- 32. Rolls BJ, Engell D, Birch LL. Serving portion size influences 5-year-old but not 3-year-old children's food intakes. J Am Diet Assoc. 2000 Feb;100:232-4.
- 33. Robinson TN. Reducing children's television viewing to prevent obesity: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 1999 Oct 27;282:1561-7.
- 34. Gillis LJ, Bar-Or O. Food away from home, sugar-sweetened drink consumption and juvenile obesity. J Am Coll Nutr. 2003 Dec;22:539-45.
- 35. Stunkard AJ, Harris JR, Pedersen NL, McClearn GE. The body-mass index of twins who have been reared apart. N Engl J Med. 1990 May 24;322:1483-7.
- Stunkard AJ, Foch TT, Hrubec Z. A twin study of human obesity. JAMA. 1986 Jul 4;256:51 4.
- 37. Tremblay MS, Willms JD. Is the Canadian childhood obesity epidemic related to physical inactivity? Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2003 Sep;27:1100-5.
- 38. Crespo CJ, Smit E, Troiano RP, Bartlett SJ, Macera CA, Andersen RE. Television watching, energy intake, and obesity in US children: results from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2001 Mar;155:360-5.
- 39. Janssen I, Katzmarzyk PT, Boyce WF, King MA, Pickett W. Overweight and obesity in Canadian adolescents and their associations with dietary habits and physical activity patterns. J Adolesc Health. 2004 Nov;35:360-7.
- 40. Colley R, Janssen I, Craig C, Clarke J, Tremblay M. Physical activity of Canadian children and youth: Accelerometer results from the 2007 to 2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey. In: Canada S, editor.; 2011. p. 9.
- 41. Strong WB, Malina RM, Blimkie CJ, Daniels SR, Dishman RK, Gutin B, Hergenroeder AC, Must A, Nixon PA, et al. Evidence based physical activity for school-age youth. J Pediatr. 2005 Jun;146:732-7.
- 42. Young LR, Nestle M. The contribution of expanding portion sizes to the US obesity epidemic. Am J Public Health. 2002 Feb;92:246-9.
- 43. Putnam J, Allshouse J. Food consumption, prices, and expenditures, 1970-97. Washington, DC: US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service; 1999.
- 44. Guthrie JF, Lin BH, Frazao E. Role of food prepared away from home in the American diet, 1977-78 versus 1994-96: changes and consequences. J Nutr Educ Behav. 2002 May-Jun;34:140-50.
- 45. Story M, Neumark-Sztainer D, French S. Individual and environmental influences on adolescent eating behaviors. J Am Diet Assoc. 2002 Mar;102:S40-51.
- 46. French SA, Story M, Neumark-Sztainer D, Fulkerson JA, Hannan P. Fast food restaurant use among adolescents: associations with nutrient intake, food choices and behavioral and psychosocial variables. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2001 Dec;25:1823-33.
- 47. Ebbeling CB, Sinclair KB, Pereira MA, Garcia-Lago E, Feldman HA, Ludwig DS. Compensation for energy intake from fast food among overweight and lean adolescents. JAMA. 2004 Jun 16;291:2828-33.
- 48. Dietry Reference Intakes (DRI) for energy, carbohydrate, fiber, fat, fatty acids, cholesterol, protein and amino acids. Institute of Medicine, The National Academic Press. 2005.
- 49. Anderson GH, Woodend D. Consumption of sugars and the regulation of short-term satiety and food intake. Am J Clin Nutr. 2003 Oct;78:843S-9S.
- 50. Food consumption (per capita) data system, 2005: US Department of Agriculture.
- 51. Pyramid servings intakes by US children and adults: 1994-96, 1998, 2000: US Department of Agriculture.
- 52. Estimated intakes of added sugars in Canada and relationship to trends in body weight. Nutrition and Health, Canadian Sugar Institute: Nutrition Information Service; 2011.
- 53. Nicklas TA, Baranowski T, Cullen KW, Berenson G. Eating patterns, dietary quality and obesity. J Am Coll Nutr. 2001 Dec;20:599-608.
- 54. Gibson S. Obesity: is it related to sugar in children's diets? Nutrition & Food Science. 1997;5:184-97.
- 55. Langlois K, Garriguet D. Sugar consumption among Canadians of all ages: Statistics Canada; 2011.
- 56. Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS): Cycle, 2.2, Nutrition: General health component including vitamin and mineral supplements, and 24-hour dieary recall component. Ottawa: Statistics Canada; 2008.
- 57. Food Statistics: Statistics Canada; 2011.
- 58. Hall K, Guo J, Dore M, Chow C. The progressive increase of food waste in America and its environmental impact. PLoS One. 2009;4.
- 59. Anderson GH. Sugars, sweetness, and food intake. Am J Clin Nutr. 1995 Jul;62:1958-201S; discussion S-2S.
- 60. Wylie-Rosett J, Segal-Isaacson CJ, Segal-Isaacson A. Carbohydrates and increases in obesity: does the type of carbohydrate make a difference? Obes Res. 2004 Nov;12 Suppl 2:124S-9S.

- 61. Cordain L, Eaton SB, Sebastian A, Mann N, Lindeberg S, Watkins BA, O'Keefe JH, Brand-Miller J. Origins and evolution of the Western diet: health implications for the 21st century. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005 Feb;81:341-54.
- 62. Hanover LM, White JS. Manufacturing, composition, and applications of fructose. Am J Clin Nutr. 1993 Nov;58:724S-32S.
- 63. White JS. Straight talk about high-fructose corn syrup: what it is and what it ain't. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 Dec;88:1716S-21S.
- 64. Beauchamp G, Cowart B. Development of sweet taste. In: Dobbing J, editor. Sweetness. New York: Springer-Verlag; 1987. p. 127-38.
- 65. Schiffman SS, Sattely-Miller EA, Graham BG, Bennett JL, Booth BJ, Desai N, Bishay I. Effect of temperature, pH, and ions on sweet taste. Physiol Behav. 2000 Feb;68:469-81.
- 66. White J, Parke D. Fructose adds variety to breakfast. Cereal Foods World. 1989;34:392-8.
- 67. Estimated Intakes of Added Sugars in Canada and Relationship to Trends in Body Weight: Canadian Sugar Institute; 2011.
- 68. Food availability: miscellaneous beverages: USDA, Economic Research Service; 2007.
- 69. Caloric sweeteners, per capita availability. In: Agriculture UDo, editor.
- 70. Harnack LJ, Jeffery RW, Boutelle KN. Temporal trends in energy intake in the United States: an ecologic perspective. Am J Clin Nutr. 2000 Jun;71:1478-84.
- 71. Comparison between Canada and United States Selected commodities available per person: Canada Food Stats; 2009.
- 72. Elliott SS, Keim NL, Stern JS, Teff K, Havel PJ. Fructose, weight gain, and the insulin resistance syndrome. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002 Nov;76:911-22.
- 73. Odgen C, Carrol M. Prevalence of obesity among children and A\adolescents: United States, Trends 1963–1965 through 2007–2008: Centre for Disease Control and Prevention; 2005.
- 74. Akhavan T, Anderson GH. Consumption of sugars and obesity in children. In-Touch. 2007.
- 75. Malik VS, Schulze MB, Hu FB. Intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain: a systematic review. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006 Aug;84:274-88.
- 76. Overby NC, Lillegaard IT, Johansson L, Andersen LF. High intake of added sugar among Norwegian children and adolescents. Public Health Nutr. 2004 Apr;7:285-93.
- 77. Blum JW, Jacobsen DJ, Donnelly JE. Beverage consumption patterns in elementary school aged children across a two-year period. J Am Coll Nutr. 2005 Apr;24:93-8.
- 78. O'Connor T, Yang S, Nicklas T. Beverage intake among preschool children and its effect on weight status. Pediatrics. 2006;118:1010-18.
- 79. Rajeshwari R, Yang S, Nicklas T, Berenson G. Secular trends in children's sweetenedbeverage consumption (1973 to 1994): the Bogalusa Heart Study. J Am Diet Assoc. 2005;105:208-14.
- 80. Newby PK, Peterson KE, Berkey CS, Leppert J, Willett WC, Colditz GA. Beverage consumption is not associated with changes in weight and body mass index among low-income preschool children in North Dakota. J Am Diet Assoc. 2004 Jul;104:1086-94.
- 81. Berkey CS, Rockett HR, Field AE, Gillman MW, Colditz GA. Sugar-added beverages and adolescent weight change. Obes Res. 2004 May;12:778-88.
- 82. Barclay A, Brand-Miller J. The Australian Paradox: A substantial decline in sugars intake over the same timeframe that overweight and obesity have increased. Nutrients. 2011;3:491-504.
- 83. Johnson SL, McPhee L, Birch LL. Conditioned preferences: young children prefer flavors associated with high dietary fat. Physiol Behav. 1991 Dec;50:1245-51.

- 84. Birch LL, Deysher M. Caloric compensation and sensory specific satiety: evidence for self regulation of food intake by young children. Appetite. 1986 Dec;7:323-31.
- 85. Birch L, McPhee L, Shoba BC, Steinberg L, Krehbiel R. "Clean up your plate": Effects of child feeding practices on the conditioning of meal size. Learning and Motivation. 1987;18:301-17.
- 86. Anderson GH, Saravis S, Schacher R, Zlotkin S, Leiter LA. Aspartame: effect on lunch-time food intake, appetite and hedonic response in children. Appetite. 1989 Oct;13:93-103.
- 87. Birch LL, Fisher JO. Food intake regulation in children. Fat and sugar substitutes and intake. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1997 May 23;819:194-220.
- 88. Zandstra EH, Mathey MF, Graaf C, van Staveren WA. Short-term regulation of food intake in children, young adults and the elderly. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2000 Mar;54:239-46.
- 89. Luhovyy BL, Akhavan T, Anderson GH. Whey proteins in the regulation of food intake and satiety. J Am Coll Nutr. 2007 Dec;26:704S-12S.
- 90. Schwartz MW, Woods SC, Porte D, Jr., Seeley RJ, Baskin DG. Central nervous system control of food intake. Nature. 2000 Apr 6;404:661-71.
- 91. Feinle C, O'Donovan D, Horowitz M. Carbohydrate and satiety. Nutr Rev. 2002 Jun;60:155-69.
- 92. Rolls BJ, Kim S, McNelis AL, Fischman MW, Foltin RW, Moran TH. Time course of effects of preloads high in fat or carbohydrate on food intake and hunger ratings in humans. Am J Physiol. 1991 Apr;260:R756-63.
- 93. Cecil JE, Francis J, Read NW. Relative contributions of intestinal, gastric, oro-sensory influences and information to changes in appetite induced by the same liquid meal. Appetite. 1998 Dec;31:377-90.
- 94. Araya H, Hills J, Alvina M, Vera G. Short-term satiety in preschool children: a comparison between high protein meal and a high complex carbohydrate meal. Int J Food Sci Nutr. 2000 Mar;51:119-24.
- 95. Goran MI, Kaskoun M, Shuman WP. Intra-abdominal adipose tissue in young children. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1995 Apr;19:279-83.
- 96. Akhavan T, Luhovyy BL, Anderson GH. Effect of drinking compared with eating sugars or whey protein on short-term appetite and food intake. Int J Obes (Lond). Aug 24.
- 97. Foltin RW, Fischman MW, Moran TH, Rolls BJ, Kelly TH. Caloric compensation for lunches varying in fat and carbohydrate content by humans in a residential laboratory. Am J Clin Nutr. 1990 Dec;52:969-80.
- 98. Rolls BJ. Carbohydrates, fats, and satiety. Am J Clin Nutr. 1995 Apr;61:960S-7S.
- 99. Porrini M, Santangelo A, Crovetti R, Riso P, Testolin G, Blundell JE. Weight, protein, fat, and timing of preloads affect food intake. Physiol Behav. 1997 Sep;62:563-70.
- 100. Stubbs RJ, Ritz P, Coward WA, Prentice AM. Covert manipulation of the ratio of dietary fat to carbohydrate and energy density: effect on food intake and energy balance in free-living men eating ad libitum. Am J Clin Nutr. 1995 Aug;62:330-7.
- Stubbs J, Ferres S, Horgan G. Energy density of foods: effects on energy intake. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2000 Nov;40:481-515.
- 102. Bellissimo N, Pencharz PB, Thomas SG, Anderson GH. Effect of television viewing at mealtime on food intake after a glucose preload in boys. Pediatr Res. 2007 Jun;61:745-9.
- 103. Elia M, Cummings JH. Physiological aspects of energy metabolism and gastrointestinal effects of carbohydrates. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2007 Dec;61 Suppl 1:S40-74.

- 104. Birch LL, McPhee L, Sullivan S. Children's food intake following drinks sweetened with sucrose or aspartame: time course effects. Physiol Behav. 1989 Feb;45:387-95.
- 105. Rogers PJ, Carlyle JA, Hill AJ, Blundell JE. Uncoupling sweet taste and calories: comparison of the effects of glucose and three intense sweeteners on hunger and food intake. Physiol Behav. 1988;43:547-52.
- 106. Rodin J. Comparative effects of fructose, aspartame, glucose, and water preloads on calorie and macronutrient intake. Am J Clin Nutr. 1990 Mar;51:428-35.
- 107. Rodin J, Reed D, Jamner L. Metabolic effects of fructose and glucose: implications for food intake. Am J Clin Nutr. 1988 Apr;47:683-9.
- 108. Spitzer L, Rodin J. Effects of fructose and glucose preloads on subsequent food intake. Appetite. 1987 Apr;8:135-45.
- 109. Spear BA. Adolescent growth and development. J Am Diet Assoc. 2002 Mar;102:S23-9.
- 110. Moyer AE, Rodin J. Fructose and behavior: does fructose influence food intake and macronutrient selection? Am J Clin Nutr. 1993 Nov;58:810S-4S.
- 111. Elias E, Gibson GJ, Greenwood LF, Hunt JN, Tripp JH. The slowing of gastric emptying by monosaccharides and disaccharides in test meals. J Physiol. 1968 Feb;194:317-26.
- 112. Kneepkens CM, Vonk RJ, Fernandes J. Incomplete intestinal absorption of fructose. Arch Dis Child. 1984 Aug;59:735-8.
- 113. Truswell AS, Seach JM, Thorburn AW. Incomplete absorption of pure fructose in healthy subjects and the facilitating effect of glucose. Am J Clin Nutr. 1988 Dec;48:1424-30.
- 114. Choi YK, Johlin FC, Jr., Summers RW, Jackson M, Rao SS. Fructose intolerance: an underrecognized problem. Am J Gastroenterol. 2003 Jun;98:1348-53.
- 115. Melanson KJ, Zukley L, Lowndes J, Nguyen V, Angelopoulos TJ, Rippe JM. Effects of highfructose corn syrup and sucrose consumption on circulating glucose, insulin, leptin, and ghrelin and on appetite in normal-weight women. Nutrition. 2007 Feb;23:103-12.
- 116. Zuckley L, Lowndes J, Nguyen V. Consumption of beverages sweetened with high-fructose corn syrup and sucrose produce similar levels of glucose, leptin, insulin, and grehlin in obese females. Exp Biol. 2007;539(abstr).
- 117. Birch LL, Johnson SL, Jones MB, Peters JC. Effects of a nonenergy fat substitute on children's energy and macronutrient intake. Am J Clin Nutr. 1993 Sep;58:326-33.
- 118. Birch LL, McPhee LS, Bryant JL, Johnson SL. Children's lunch intake: effects of midmorning snacks varying in energy density and fat content. Appetite. 1993 Apr;20:83-94.
- 119. Woodend DM, Anderson GH. Effect of sucrose and safflower oil preloads on short term appetite and food intake of young men. Appetite. 2001 Dec;37:185-95.
- 120. Blundell JE, Burley VJ, Cotton JR, Lawton CL. Dietary fat and the control of energy intake: evaluating the effects of fat on meal size and postmeal satiety. Am J Clin Nutr. 1993 May;57:772S-7S; discussion 7S-8S.
- 121. Barkeling B, Rossner S, Bjorvell H. Effects of a high-protein meal (meat) and a highcarbohydrate meal (vegetarian) on satiety measured by automated computerized monitoring of subsequent food intake, motivation to eat and food preferences. Int J Obes. 1990 Sep;14:743-51.
- 122. Booth DA, Chase A, Campbell AT. Relative effectiveness of protein in the late stages of appetite suppression in man. Physiol Behav. 1970 Nov;5:1299-302.
- 123. Latner JD, Schwartz M. The effects of a high-carbohydrate, high-protein or balanced lunch upon later food intake and hunger ratings. Appetite. 1999 Aug;33:119-28.

- 124. Teff KL, Young SN, Blundell JE. The effect of protein or carbohydrate breakfasts on subsequent plasma amino acid levels, satiety and nutrient selection in normal males. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 1989 Dec;34:829-37.
- 125. Bertenshaw EJ, Lluch A, Yeomans MR. Satiating effects of protein but not carbohydrate consumed in a between-meal beverage context. Physiol Behav. 2008 Feb 27;93:427-36.
- 126. Booth D, Conner M, Marie S. Sweetness and food selection: measurement of sweeteners' effects on acceptance. In: Dobbing J, editor. Sweetness. New York: Springer-Verlag; 1970. p. 143-58.
- 127. King NA, Appleton K, Rogers PJ, Blundell JE. Effects of sweetness and energy in drinks on food intake following exercise. Physiol Behav. 1999 Apr;66:375-9.
- 128. Rogers PJ, Blundell JE. Separating the actions of sweetness and calories: effects of saccharin and carbohydrates on hunger and food intake in human subjects. Physiol Behav. 1989 Jun;45:1093-9.
- 129. Black RM, Leiter LA, Anderson GH. Consuming aspartame with and without taste: differential effects on appetite and food intake of young adult males. Physiol Behav. 1993 Mar;53:459-66.
- Lavin JH, French SJ, Read NW. Comparison of oral and gastric administration of sucrose and maltose on gastric emptying rate and appetite. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2002 Jan;26:80-6.
- 131. Rolls BJ, Van Duijvenvoorde PM, Rolls ET. Pleasantness changes and food intake in a varied four-course meal. Appetite. 1984 Dec;5:337-48.
- 132. McCrory MA, Fuss PJ, McCallum JE, Yao M, Vinken AG, Hays NP, Roberts SB. Dietary variety within food groups: association with energy intake and body fatness in men and women. Am J Clin Nutr. 1999 Mar;69:440-7.
- 133. Rolls BJ, Rowe EA, Rolls ET, Kingston B, Megson A, Gunary R. Variety in a meal enhances food intake in man. Physiol Behav. 1981 Feb;26:215-21.
- 134. Rolls BJ, Rowe EA, Rolls ET. How sensory properties of foods affect human feeding behavior. Physiol Behav. 1982 Sep;29:409-17.
- 135. Pico C, Oliver P, Sanchez J, Palou A. Gastric leptin: a putative role in the short-term regulation of food intake. Br J Nutr. 2003 Oct;90:735-41.
- 136. Bellissimo N, Desantadina MV, Pencharz PB, Berall GB, Thomas SG, Anderson GH. A comparison of short-term appetite and energy intakes in normal weight and obese boys following glucose and whey-protein drinks. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008 Feb;32:362-71.
- 137. Almiron-Roig E, Chen Y, Drewnowski A. Liquid calories and the failure of satiety: how good is the evidence? Obes Rev. 2003 Nov;4:201-12.
- Ranawana DV, Henry CJ. Are caloric beverages compensated for in the short-term by young adults? An investigation with particular focus on gender differences. Appetite. Aug;55:137-46.
- 139. Harper A, James A, Flint A, Astrup A. Increased satiety after intake of a chocolate milk drink compared with a carbonated beverage, but no difference in subsequent ad libitum lunch intake. Br J Nutr. 2007 Mar;97:579-83.
- 140. de Castro JM. Physiological, environmental, and subjective determinants of food intake in humans: a meal pattern analysis. Physiol Behav. 1988;44:651-9.
- 141. Anderson GH, Aziz A, Abou Samra R. Physiology of food intake regulation: interaction with dietary components. Nestle Nutr Workshop Ser Pediatr Program. 2006;58:133-43; discussion 43-5.

- 142. Friedman MI, Harris RB, Ji H, Ramirez I, Tordoff MG. Fatty acid oxidation affects food intake by altering hepatic energy status. Am J Physiol. 1999 Apr;276:R1046-53.
- 143. Moran TH, Schwartz GJ. Neurobiology of cholecystokinin. Crit Rev Neurobiol. 1994;9:1-28.
- 144. Bellissimo U, Caputi M, Di Matteo L, Turco D, Gicchino A, Speranza A. Endothoracic foreign bodies. Diagnostic and therapeutic problems. Panminerva Med. 1986 Jul-Sep;28:291-5.
- 145. Woods SC. Gastrointestinal satiety signals I. An overview of gastrointestinal signals that influence food intake. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2004 Jan;286:G7-13.
- 146. Baura GD, Foster DM, Porte D, Jr., Kahn SE, Bergman RN, Cobelli C, Schwartz MW. Saturable transport of insulin from plasma into the central nervous system of dogs in vivo. A mechanism for regulated insulin delivery to the brain. J Clin Invest. 1993 Oct;92:1824-30.
- 147. Woods SC, Lotter EC, McKay LD, Porte D, Jr. Chronic intracerebroventricular infusion of insulin reduces food intake and body weight of baboons. Nature. 1979 Nov 29;282:503-5.
- 148. Bagdade JD, Bierman EL, Porte D, Jr. The significance of basal insulin levels in the evaluation of the insulin response to glucose in diabetic and nondiabetic subjects. J Clin Invest. 1967 Oct;46:1549-57.
- 149. Woods SC, Decke E, Vasselli JR. Metabolic hormones and regulation of body weight. Psychol Rev. 1974 Jan;81:26-43.
- 150. Schwartz MW, Figlewicz DP, Baskin DG, Woods SC, Porte D, Jr. Insulin in the brain: a hormonal regulator of energy balance. Endocr Rev. 1992 Aug;13:387-414.
- 151. Polonsky KS, Given BD, Van Cauter E. Twenty-four-hour profiles and pulsatile patterns of insulin secretion in normal and obese subjects. J Clin Invest. 1988 Feb;81:442-8.
- 152. Havel PJ. Peripheral signals conveying metabolic information to the brain: short-term and long-term regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2001 Dec;226:963-77.
- 153. Sipols AJ, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW. Effect of intracerebroventricular insulin infusion on diabetic hyperphagia and hypothalamic neuropeptide gene expression. Diabetes. 1995 Feb;44:147-51.
- 154. McGowan MK, Andrews KM, Kelly J, Grossman SP. Effects of chronic intrahypothalamic infusion of insulin on food intake and diurnal meal patterning in the rat. Behav Neurosci. 1990 Apr;104:373-85.
- 155. Ikeda H, West DB, Pustek JJ, Figlewicz DP, Greenwood MR, Porte D, Jr., Woods SC. Intraventricular insulin reduces food intake and body weight of lean but not obese Zucker rats. Appetite. 1986 Dec;7:381-6.
- 156. Hadley ME. Endocrinology. 4 ed. Upper Sadle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc; 1996.
- 157. Schwartz MW, Baskin DG, Kaiyala KJ, Woods SC. Model for the regulation of energy balance and adiposity by the central nervous system. Am J Clin Nutr. 1999 Apr;69:584-96.
- 158. Considine RV, Sinha MK, Heiman ML, Kriauciunas A, Stephens TW, Nyce MR, Ohannesian JP, Marco CC, McKee LJ, et al. Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normalweight and obese humans. N Engl J Med. 1996 Feb 1;334:292-5.
- 159. Havel PJ. Mechanisms regulating leptin production: implications for control of energy balance. Am J Clin Nutr. 1999 Sep;70:305-6.
- 160. Havel PJ, Kasim-Karakas S, Mueller W, Johnson PR, Gingerich RL, Stern JS. Relationship of plasma leptin to plasma insulin and adiposity in normal weight and overweight women: effects of dietary fat content and sustained weight loss. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1996 Dec;81:4406-13.

- 161. Zhang Y, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, Friedman JM. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. Nature. 1994 Dec 1;372:425-32.
- 162. Maffei M, Halaas J, Ravussin E, Pratley RE, Lee GH, Zhang Y, Fei H, Kim S, Lallone R, et al. Leptin levels in human and rodent: measurement of plasma leptin and ob RNA in obese and weight-reduced subjects. Nat Med. 1995 Nov;1:1155-61.
- 163. Heymsfield SB, Greenberg AS, Fujioka K, Dixon RM, Kushner R, Hunt T, Lubina JA, Patane J, Self B, et al. Recombinant leptin for weight loss in obese and lean adults: a randomized, controlled, dose-escalation trial. JAMA. 1999 Oct 27;282:1568-75.
- 164. Hukshorn CJ, Saris WH, Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Farid AR, Smith FJ, Campfield LA. Weekly subcutaneous pegylated recombinant native human leptin (PEG-OB) administration in obese men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000 Nov;85:4003-9.
- 165. Farooqi IS, Jebb SA, Langmack G, Lawrence E, Cheetham CH, Prentice AM, Hughes IA, McCamish MA, O'Rahilly S. Effects of recombinant leptin therapy in a child with congenital leptin deficiency. N Engl J Med. 1999 Sep 16;341:879-84.
- 166. Keim NL, Stern JS, Havel PJ. Relation between circulating leptin concentrations and appetite during a prolonged, moderate energy deficit in women. Am J Clin Nutr. 1998 Oct;68:794-801.
- 167. Caro JF, Sinha MK, Kolaczynski JW, Zhang PL, Considine RV. Leptin: the tale of an obesity gene. Diabetes. 1996 Nov;45:1455-62.
- 168. McMinn JE, Sindelar DK, Havel PJ, Schwartz MW. Leptin deficiency induced by fasting impairs the satiety response to cholecystokinin. Endocrinology. 2000 Dec;141:4442-8.
- 169. Strader AD, Woods SC. Gastrointestinal hormones and food intake. Gastroenterology. 2005 Jan;128:175-91.
- 170. Holst JJ. Enteroglucagon. Annu Rev Physiol. 1997;59:257-71.
- 171. Schirra J, Kuwert P, Wank U, Leicht P, Arnold R, Goke B, Katschinski M. Differential effects of subcutaneous GLP-1 on gastric emptying, antroduodenal motility, and pancreatic function in men. Proc Assoc Am Physicians. 1997 Jan;109:84-97.
- 172. Naslund E, Gutniak M, Skogar S, Rossner S, Hellstrom PM. Glucagon-like peptide 1 increases the period of postprandial satiety and slows gastric emptying in obese men. Am J Clin Nutr. 1998 Sep;68:525-30.
- 173. Gutzwiller JP, Goke B, Drewe J, Hildebrand P, Ketterer S, Handschin D, Winterhalder R, Conen D, Beglinger C. Glucagon-like peptide-1: a potent regulator of food intake in humans. Gut. 1999 Jan;44:81-6.
- 174. Gutzwiller JP, Drewe J, Goke B, Schmidt H, Rohrer B, Lareida J, Beglinger C. Glucagon-like peptide-1 promotes satiety and reduces food intake in patients with diabetes mellitus type 2. Am J Physiol. 1999 May;276:R1541-4.
- 175. Turton MD, O'Shea D, Gunn I, Beak SA, Edwards CM, Meeran K, Choi SJ, Taylor GM, Heath MM, et al. A role for glucagon-like peptide-1 in the central regulation of feeding. Nature. 1996 Jan 4;379:69-72.
- 176. Flint A, Raben A, Astrup A, Holst JJ. Glucagon-like peptide 1 promotes satiety and suppresses energy intake in humans. J Clin Invest. 1998 Feb 1;101:515-20.
- 177. Kreymann B, Williams G, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR. Glucagon-like peptide-1 7-36: a physiological incretin in man. Lancet. 1987 Dec 5;2:1300-4.
- 178. Tillil H, Shapiro ET, Miller MA, Karrison T, Frank BH, Galloway JA, Rubenstein AH, Polonsky KS. Dose-dependent effects of oral and intravenous glucose on insulin secretion and clearance in normal humans. Am J Physiol. 1988 Mar;254:E349-57.

- 179. Wettergren A, Schjoldager B, Mortensen PE, Myhre J, Christiansen J, Holst JJ. Truncated GLP-1 (proglucagon 78-107-amide) inhibits gastric and pancreatic functions in man. Dig Dis Sci. 1993 Apr;38:665-73.
- 180. Badman MK, Flier JS. The gut and energy balance: visceral allies in the obesity wars. Science. 2005 Mar 25;307:1909-14.
- 181. Lewis JT, Dayanandan B, Habener JF, Kieffer TJ. Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide confers early phase insulin release to oral glucose in rats: demonstration by a receptor antagonist. Endocrinology. 2000 Oct;141:3710-6.
- 182. Kieffer TJ, McIntosh CH, Pederson RA. Degradation of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide and truncated glucagon-like peptide 1 in vitro and in vivo by dipeptidyl peptidase IV. Endocrinology. 1995 Aug;136:3585-96.
- 183. Elliott RM, Morgan LM, Tredger JA, Deacon S, Wright J, Marks V. Glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36)amide and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide secretion in response to nutrient ingestion in man: acute post-prandial and 24-h secretion patterns. J Endocrinol. 1993 Jul;138:159-66.
- 184. Ebert R, Unger H, Creutzfeldt W. Preservation of incretin activity after removal of gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) from rat gut extracts by immunoadsorption. Diabetologia. 1983 Jun;24:449-54.
- 185. Liddle RA. Cholecystokinin cells. Annu Rev Physiol. 1997;59:221-42.
- Herranz R. Cholecystokinin antagonists: pharmacological and therapeutic potential. Med Res Rev. 2003 Sep;23:559-605.
- 187. Stein LJ, Porte D, Jr., Figlewicz DP, Woods SC. Effect of fasting interval on CCK-8 suppression of food intake in the baboon. Am J Physiol. 1986 May;250:R851-5.
- 188. Pupovac J, Anderson GH. Dietary peptides induce satiety via cholecystokinin-A and peripheral opioid receptors in rats. J Nutr. 2002 Sep;132:2775-80.
- Gibbs J, Young RC, Smith GP. Cholecystokinin decreases food intake in rats. J Comp Physiol Psychol. 1973 Sep;84:488-95.
- 190. Muurahainen N, Kissileff HR, Derogatis AJ, Pi-Sunyer FX. Effects of cholecystokininoctapeptide (CCK-8) on food intake and gastric emptying in man. Physiol Behav. 1988;44:645-9.
- 191. Gutzwiller JP, Drewe J, Ketterer S, Hildebrand P, Krautheim A, Beglinger C. Interaction between CCK and a preload on reduction of food intake is mediated by CCK-A receptors in humans. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2000 Jul;279:R189-95.
- 192. Kissileff HR, Pi-Sunyer FX, Thornton J, Smith GP. C-terminal octapeptide of cholecystokinin decreases food intake in man. Am J Clin Nutr. 1981 Feb;34:154-60.
- 193. Grider JR. Role of cholecystokinin in the regulation of gastrointestinal motility. J Nutr. 1994 Aug;124:1334S-9S.
- 194. Vanderweele DA, Novin D, Rezek M, Sanderson JD. Duodenal or hepatic-portal glucose perfusion: evidence for duodenally-based satiety. Physiol Behav. 1974 Mar;12:467-73.
- 195. Lavin JH, Wittert G, Sun WM, Horowitz M, Morley JE, Read NW. Appetite regulation by carbohydrate: role of blood glucose and gastrointestinal hormones. Am J Physiol. 1996 Aug;271:E209-14.
- 196. Lavin JH, Wittert GA, Andrews J, Yeap B, Wishart JM, Morris HA, Morley JE, Horowitz M, Read NW. Interaction of insulin, glucagon-like peptide 1, gastric inhibitory polypeptide, and appetite in response to intraduodenal carbohydrate. Am J Clin Nutr. 1998 Sep;68:591-8.

- 197. Mayer J. Regulation of energy intake and the body weight: the glucostatic theory and the lipostatic hypothesis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1955 Jul 15;63:15-43.
- 198. Chaput JP, Tremblay A. The glucostatic theory of appetite control and the risk of obesity and diabetes. Int J Obes (Lond). 2009 Jan;33:46-53.
- 199. Mayer J. The glucostatic theory of regulation of food intake and the problem of obesity. Bull New Engl Med Cent. 1952 Apr-Jun;14:43-9.
- 200. Anderson GH, Woodend D. Effect of glycemic carbohydrates on short-term satiety and food intake. Nutr Rev. 2003 May;61:S17-26.
- 201. Kong MF, Chapman I, Goble E, Wishart J, Wittert G, Morris H, Horowitz M. Effects of oral fructose and glucose on plasma GLP-1 and appetite in normal subjects. Peptides. 1999;20:545-51.
- 202. Byrne MM, Goke B. Human studies with glucagon-like-peptide-1: potential of the gut hormone for clinical use. Diabet Med. 1996 Oct;13:854-60.
- 203. Blundell JE, Lawton CL, Cotton JR, Macdiarmid JI. Control of human appetite: implications for the intake of dietary fat. Annu Rev Nutr. 1996;16:285-319.
- 204. Friedman MI, Tordoff MG. Fatty acid oxidation and glucose utilization interact to control food intake in rats. Am J Physiol. 1986 Nov;251:R840-5.
- 205. Langhans W, Scharrer E. Evidence for a vagally mediated satiety signal derived from hepatic fatty acid oxidation. J Auton Nerv Syst. 1987 Jan;18:13-8.
- 206. Mellinkoff SM, Frankland M, Boyle D, Greipel M. Relationship between serum amino acid concentration and fluctuations in appetite. J Appl Physiol. 1956 Mar;8:535-8.
- 207. Anderson GH, Li ET, Anthony SP, Ng LT, Bialik R. Dissociation between plasma and brain amino acid profiles and short-term food intake in the rat. Am J Physiol. 1994 May;266:R1675-86.
- 208. Anderson GH, Moore SE. Dietary proteins in the regulation of food intake and body weight in humans. J Nutr. 2004 Apr;134:974S-9S.
- 209. Trigazis L, Vaccarino FJ, Greenwood CE, Anderson GH. CCK-A receptor antagonists have selective effects on nutrient-induced food intake suppression in rats. Am J Physiol. 1999 Feb;276:R323-30.
- 210. Peters CT, Choi YH, Brubaker PL, Anderson GH. A glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist and an antagonist modify macronutrient selection by rats. J Nutr. 2001 Aug;131:2164-70.
- 211. Uhe AM, Collier GR, O'Dea K. A comparison of the effects of beef, chicken and fish protein on satiety and amino acid profiles in lean male subjects. J Nutr. 1992 Mar;122:467-72.
- 212. Hall WL, Millward DJ, Long SJ, Morgan LM. Casein and whey exert different effects on plasma amino acid profiles, gastrointestinal hormone secretion and appetite. Br J Nutr. 2003 Feb;89:239-48.
- 213. Patrick H, Nicklas TA. A review of family and social determinants of children's eating patterns and diet quality. J Am Coll Nutr. 2005 Apr;24:83-92.
- 214. Xie B, Gilliland FD, Li YF, Rockett HR. Effects of ethnicity, family income, and education on dietary intake among adolescents. Prev Med. 2003 Jan;36:30-40.
- 215. Kranz S, Siega-Riz AM. Sociodemographic determinants of added sugar intake in preschoolers 2 to 5 years old. J Pediatr. 2002 Jun;140:667-72.
- 216. Birch L, Savage JS, Ventura A. Influences on the Development of Children's Eating Behaviours: From Infancy to Adolescence. Can J Diet Pract Res. 2007;68:s1-s56.
- 217. Birch LL, Fisher JO. Development of eating behaviors among children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 1998 Mar;101:539-49.

- 218. Stubbs RJ, Hughes DA, Johnstone AM, Rowley E, Reid C, Elia M, Stratton R, Delargy H, King N, Blundell JE. The use of visual analogue scales to assess motivation to eat in human subjects: a review of their reliability and validity with an evaluation of new hand-held computerized systems for temporal tracking of appetite ratings. Br J Nutr. 2000 Oct;84:405-15.
- 219. Hill AJ, Blundell JE. Nutrients and behaviour: research strategies for the investigation of taste characteristics, food preferences, hunger sensations and eating patterns in man. J Psychiatr Res. 1982;17:203-12.
- 220. Moore MS, Dodd CJ, Welsman JR, Armstrong N. Short-term appetite and energy intake following imposed exercise in 9- to 10-year-old girls. Appetite. 2004 Oct;43:127-34.
- 221. Bellissimo N, Thomas SG, Pencharz PB, Goode RC, Anderson GH. Reproducibility of shortterm food intake and subjective appetite scores after a glucose preload, ventilation threshold, and body composition in boys. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2008 Apr;33:326-37.
- 222. Bellissimo N, Thomas SG, Goode RC, Anderson GH. Effect of short-duration physical activity and ventilation threshold on subjective appetite and short-term energy intake in boys. Appetite. 2007 Nov;49:644-51.
- 223. Rolls BJ, Castellanos VH, Halford JC, Kilara A, Panyam D, Pelkman CL, Smith GP, Thorwart ML. Volume of food consumed affects satiety in men. Am J Clin Nutr. 1998 Jun;67:1170-7.
- 224. Naslund E, Barkeling B, King N, Gutniak M, Blundell JE, Holst JJ, Rossner S, Hellstrom PM. Energy intake and appetite are suppressed by glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) in obese men. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1999 Mar;23:304-11.
- 225. Mattes R. Hunger ratings are not a valid proxy measure of reported food intake in humans. Appetite. 1990 Oct;15:103-13.
- 226. Lappalainen R, Mennen L, van Weert L, Mykkanen H. Drinking water with a meal: a simple method of coping with feelings of hunger, satiety and desire to eat. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1993 Nov;47:815-9.
- 227. Leathwood P, Pollet P. Effects of slow release carbohydrates in the form of bean flakes on the evolution of hunger and satiety in man. Appetite. 1988 Feb;10:1-11.
- 228. Porrini M, Crovetti R, Testolin G, Silva S. Evaluation of satiety sensations and food intake after different preloads. Appetite. 1995 Aug;25:17-30.
- 229. Parker BA, Sturm K, MacIntosh CG, Feinle C, Horowitz M, Chapman IM. Relation between food intake and visual analogue scale ratings of appetite and other sensations in healthy older and young subjects. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2004 Feb;58:212-8.
- 230. Blundell JE, Green SM. Effect of sucrose and sweeteners on appetite and energy intake. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1996 Mar;20 Suppl 2:S12-7.
- 231. Gerstein DE, Woodward-Lopez G, Evans AE, Kelsey K, Drewnowski A. Clarifying concepts about macronutrients' effects on satiation and satiety. J Am Diet Assoc. 2004 Jul;104:1151-3.
- 232. Durnin JV, Womersley J. Body fat assessed from total body density and its estimation from skinfold thickness: measurements on 481 men and women aged from 16 to 72 years. Br J Nutr. 1974 Jul;32:77-97.
- 233. Wang J, Deurenberg P. The validity of predicted body composition in Chinese adults from anthropometry and bioelectrical impedance in comparison with densitometry. Br J Nutr. 1996 Aug;76:175-82.
- 234. Wagner DR, Heyward VH. Techniques of body composition assessment: a review of laboratory and field methods. Res Q Exerc Sport. 1999 Jun;70:135-49.

- 235. Durnin J, Rahaman M. The assessment of the amount of fat in the human body from measurements of skinfold thickness. Br J Nutr. 1967;21:681-9.
- 236. Brook C. Determination of body composition of children from skinfold measurements. Arch Dis Child. 1971;46:182-4.
- 237. Bozinovski NC, Bellissimo N, Thomas SG, Pencharz PB, Goode RC, Anderson GH. The effect of duration of exercise at the ventilation threshold on subjective appetite and short-term food intake in 9 to 14 year old boys and girls. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2009;6:66.
- 238. Wells JC, Fewtrell MS. Measuring body composition. Arch Dis Child. 2006 Jul;91:612-7.
- 239. Watts K, Naylor LH, Davis EA, Jones TW, Beeson B, Bettenay F, Siafarikas A, Bell L, Ackland T, Green DJ. Do skinfolds accurately assess changes in body fat in obese children and adolescents? Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2006 Mar;38:439-44.
- 240. Mazess RB, Barden HS, Bisek JP, Hanson J. Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry for total-body and regional bone-mineral and soft-tissue composition. Am J Clin Nutr. 1990 Jun;51:1106-12.
- 241. Health N. Bioelectrical impedance analysis in body composition measurement. National Institutes of Health Technology Assessment Conference; 1995.
- 242. Wabitsch M, Braun U, Heinze E, Muche R, Mayer H, Teller W, Fusch C. Body composition in 5-18-y-old obese children and adolescents before and after weight reduction as assessed by deuterium dilution and bioelectrical impedance analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 1996 Jul;64:1-6.
- Goran MI, Driscoll P, Johnson R, Nagy TR, Hunter G. Cross-calibration of body-composition techniques against dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry in young children. Am J Clin Nutr. 1996 Mar;63:299-305.
- 244. Schaefer F, Georgi M, Zieger A, Scharer K. Usefulness of bioelectric impedance and skinfold measurements in predicting fat-free mass derived from total body potassium in children. Pediatr Res. 1994 May;35:617-24.
- 245. Van Strien T, Frijters JE, Bergers GP, Defares PB. The Dutch Eating Behavior Questionnaire (DEBQ) for Assessment of Restrained, Emotional, and External Eating Behavior. International Journal of Obesity. 1986;5:295-315.
- 246. Kaplan HI, Kaplan HS. The psychosomatic concept of obesity. J Nerv Ment Dis. 1957 Apr-Jun;125:181-201.
- 247. Robbins T, Fray P. Stress-induced eating. Fact, fiction or misunderstanding. Appetite. 1980;1:103-33.
- 248. Schachter S, Goldman R, Gordon A. Effects of fear, food deprivation, and obesity on eating. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1968 Oct;10:91-7.
- 249. Snoek HM, van Strien T, Janssens JM, Engels RC. Emotional, external, restrained eating and overweight in Dutch adolescents. Scand J Psychol. 2007 Feb;48:23-32.
- 250. Herman CP, Mack D. Restrained and unrestrained eating. J Pers. 1975 Dec;43:647-60.
- 251. Polivy J, Herman CP, Deo R. Getting a bigger slice of the pie. Effects on eating and emotion in restrained and unrestrained eaters. Appetite. Dec;55:426-30.
- 252. Hoare P, Cosgrove L. Eating habits, body-esteem and self-esteem in Scottish children and adolescents. J Psychosom Res. 1998 Nov;45:425-31.
- 253. Burton-Freeman B. Sex and cognitive dietary restraint influence cholecystokinin release and satiety in response to preloads varying in fatty acid composition and content. J Nutr. 2005 Jun;135:1407-14.
- 254. Jansen A, van den Hout M. On being led into temptation: "counterregulation" of dieters after smelling a "preload". Addict Behav. 1991;16:247-53.

- 255. Knight LJ, Boland FJ. Restrained eating: an experimental disentanglement of the disinhibiting variables of perceived calories and food type. J Abnorm Psychol. 1989 Nov;98:412-20.
- 256. Polivy J. Perception of calories and regulation of intake in restrained and unrestrained subjects. Addict Behav. 1976;1:237-43.
- 257. Fedoroff IC, Polivy J, Herman CP. The effect of pre-exposure to food cues on the eating behavior of restrained and unrestrained eaters. Appetite. 1997 Feb;28:33-47.
- 258. Health Indicators. Human Resources and Skills Development, Statistics Canada. Ottawa; 2011.
- 259. Patel BP, Bellissimo N, Thomas SG, Hamilton JK, Anderson GH. Television viewing at mealtime reduces caloric compensation in peripubertal, but not postpubertal, girls. Pediatr Res. Nov;70:513-7.
- 260. Teff KL, Elliott SS, Tschop M, Kieffer TJ, Rader D, Heiman M, Townsend RR, Keim NL, D'Alessio D, Havel PJ. Dietary fructose reduces circulating insulin and leptin, attenuates postprandial suppression of ghrelin, and increases triglycerides in women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004 Jun;89:2963-72.
- 261. Stanhope KL, Griffen SC, Bair BR, Swarbrick MM, Keim NL, Havel PJ. Twenty-four-hour endocrine and metabolic profiles following consumption of high-fructose corn syrup-, sucrose-, fructose-, and glucose-sweetened beverages with meals. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 May;87:1194-203.
- 262. Moran TH. Fructose and satiety. J Nutr. 2009 Jun;139:1253S-6S.
- 263. Rodin J, Wack J, Ferrannini E, DeFronzo RA. Effect of insulin and glucose on feeding behavior. Metabolism. 1985 Sep;34:826-31.
- 264. Johnson SL, Birch LL. Parents' and children's adiposity and eating style. Pediatrics. 1994 Nov;94:653-61.
- 265. Black RM, Anderson GH. Sweeteners, food intake and selection. Appetite and body weight regulation: sugar, fat and macronutrient substitutes. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press; 1994. p. 125-36.
- 266. Lavin JH, French SJ, Ruxton CH, Read NW. An investigation of the role of oro-sensory stimulation in sugar satiety. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2002 Mar;26:384-8.
- 267. Bennett L. Effect of Sugars-Sweetened Commercial Beverages on Subjective Appetite, and Short- Term Food Intake Regulation in Normal Weight and Overweight/Obese 9 to 14 Year Old Girls. Halifax: Mount Saint Vincent University 2012.
- 268. Yeomans MR, Gray RW, Mitchell CJ, True S. Independent effects of palatability and withinmeal pauses on intake and appetite ratings in human volunteers. Appetite. 1997 Aug;29:61-76.
- 269. Zandstra E, De Graaf C, Van Trijp J. Laboratory hedonic ratings as predictors of consumption. Food Quality and Preference. 1999;10:411-8.
- 270. Levy JR, Stevens W. Plasma hyperosmolality stimulates leptin secretion acutely by a vasopressin-adrenal mechanism. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2004 Aug;287:E263-8.
- 271. Flanagan LM, Blackburn RE, Verbalis JG, Stricker EM. Hypertonic NaCl inhibits gastric motility and food intake in rats with lesions in the rostral AV3V region. Am J Physiol. 1992 Jul;263:R9-14.
- 272. Phillip LE, Buchanan-Smith JG, Grovum WL. Food intake and ruminal osmolality in sheep: differentiation of the effect of osmolality from that of the products of maize silage fermentation. Journal Agricultural Scriences. 1981;96:439-45.

273. Poirier K. Effect of Sugars-Sweetened Commercial Beverages on Subjective Appetite and Short-Term Food Intake Regulation in Normal Weight and Overweight/Obese 9-14 Year Old Boys Halifax: Mount Saint Vincent University; 2012.

Chapter 8

APPENDIX

Appendix 8.1. Recruitment Letter for Parents



Excellence • Innovation • Discovery

Effect of Sugars Solutions on Subjective Appetite and Short-Term Food Intake in Children

Dear Parent

Mount Saint Vincent University is leading a team of researchers investigating the physiological and environmental determinants of energy intake regulation on the health and cognitive functioning of children and young adolescents. In our current work we are conducting studies aimed at understanding the controls of food intake in children, with the ultimate goal of finding ways to address the problems of overeating and obesity that are becoming a concern among those people involved in improving the long term health of Canadians. Additionally we are interested in how different types of macronutrients and our ability to metabolize these nutrients might influence memory performance.

We are asking the parents of 9 to 14 year old girls and boys to allow their children to take part in a research study. Their participation is quite straightforward: on four separate weekend mornings, following a 12 hour fast, your child will consume a standard breakfast at home, and then consume a sweet beverage followed by a pizza lunch 60 min later in the Department of Applied Human Nutrition, Mount Saint Vincent University. Between the consumption of the beverage and eating lunch, your child will be presented with a list of common words and asked to recall them immediately and then after a 20 min delay. The study will take place on four weekend mornings at the Evaristus Building (Room 365), Department of Applied Human Nutrition.

There are criteria for participation that you need to be aware of, the child must:

- be between 9 and 14 years of age, and
- be healthy, and have been born at term, and
- not be taking medications.
- not have allergies to milk, wheat or nuts.

As a reward for taking part, at the end of each session the child will be given a gift certificate to Empire Theatres (\$10 gift certificate).

If you would like your child to participate, or to get further information beyond that provided in this letter, please contact Ms. Marissa Van Engelen Student Investigator, at (902) 457-6378 or Dr. Nick Bellissimo, Principal Investigator, at (902) 457-6295.

If you have questions about how this study is being conducted and wish to speak with someone who is not directly involved in the study, you may contact the Chair of the University Research Ethics Board (UREB) c/o MSVU Research and International Office, at 457-6350 or via e-mail at <u>research@msvu.ca</u> Thank you for your support in this important research.

Sincerely,

Dr. Nick Bellissimo, Department of Applied Human Nutrition, Mount Saint Vincent University. Ms. Marissa Van Engelen, Department of Applied Human Nutrition, Mount Saint Vincent University. Dr. Michelle Eskritt, Department of Psychology, Mount Saint Vincent University.

Appendix 8.2. Telephone Screening Questionnaire



Excellence • Innovation • Discovery

Telephone Screening Questionnaire (with Parent)

Name:		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Age:	yrs	DOB (yy/mm/dd) :	
Birth Weight:	_	Was your child born at full term?	
Normal wt? Yes/No (>= 5.5 lbs <= 8.5 lbs)		Full term? (>= 37 weeks)	Yes/No
Has your child gained or lost weight r	recently	?	Yes/No
Does your child usually eat breakfast?	?		Yes/No
Does your child like: - Cheerios? - Skim Milk? - Orange Juice? - Pizza?		Yes/No Yes/No Yes/No Yes/No	
Is your child following a special diet?			Yes/No
Does your child have food allergies or - Milk, nut, wheat	r sensiti	ivities?	Yes/No Yes/No
Health problems? If yes, explain:			Yes/No
Is your child on medication? If yes, which medication?			Yes/No
Education: Grade: Special Class?	_		
Has your child skipped or repeated a g	grade?		Yes/No
Does your child have learning or emotion	tional c	lifficulties?	Yes/No

Include in study?	Yes/No
If not, why?	
First appointment date:	
Investigator:	
Date:	

Appendix 8.3. Parental Consent Form



Excellence • Innovation • Discovery

Department of Applied Human Nutrition

Effect of Sugars Solutions on Subjective Appetite and Short-Term Food Intake in Children Study Information Sheet and Parent's Consent Form

Investigators:

Dr. Nick Bellissimo, PhD, BEd Principal Investigator Department of Applied Human Nutrition at Mount Saint Vincent University Phone: (902) 457-6295 Email: <u>nick.bellissimo@utoronto.ca</u>

Ms. Marissa Van Engelen Student Investigator Phone: (902) 457-6378 Email: <u>marissa.van.engelen@msvu.ca</u>

Dr. Michelle Eskritt, PhD Co-Investigator Department of Psychology at Mount Saint Vincent University Phone: (902) 457-6593 Email: <u>michelle.eskritt@msvu.ca</u>

Invitation:

Mount Saint Vincent University is leading a team of researchers investigating the physiological and environmental determinants of energy intake regulation on the health and cognitive functioning of children and young adolescents. In our current work we are conducting studies aimed at understanding the controls of food intake in children, with the ultimate goal of finding ways to address the problems of overeating and obesity that are becoming a concern among those people involved in improving the long term health of Canadians. Additionally we are interested in how different types of macronutrients and our ability to metabolize these nutrients might influence memory performance. We are asking the parents of 9-14 year old girls and boys to allow their children to take part in a research study.

Purpose of Research:

The purpose of this study is to determine the effects of sugars containing beverages on food intake regulation in normal weight 9-14 year-old girls and boys. This experiment is being conducted through the Departments of Applied Human Nutrition and Psychology at Mount Saint Vincent University by Marissa Van Engelen, Dr. Nick Bellissimo and Dr. Michelle Eskritt. Your child will be required to

attend four experimental sessions conducted over a 4-week period, for a total of 5 visits (4 food intake measurement sessions + 1 information/screening visit) to the Mount Saint Vincent University campus. Each visit will last approximately 90 min.

Procedure:

Appetite Assessment:

For those parents who express interest in having their child participate, some information about the child will be requested by telephone, by the investigator, Ms. Marissa Van Engelen. If the child was born at term, is healthy and does not receive any medications, an information/screening session will be arranged.

During the information/screening session, the researcher will explain the full details of the study. Parents that give consent to have their child participate will sign a consent form. The parent will receive copies of the consent form and of the study information sheet. If the child wishes to participate and signs a children's assent form, their weight, height, and body fat by skinfold caliper at 4-points (biceps, triceps, suprailiac, and subscapular), will be measured.

The children will then be asked to rank their preference for pizza that will be served as the lunch meal at each session.

The children who participate in this study will be requested to go to the Evaristus Building (Rm. 365), Department of Applied Human Nutrition, Mount Saint Vincent University, for four individual weekend morning sessions over a four week period.

On each of the four test days, the children will have a standardized breakfast of cereal, milk and orange juice at home, either at 8:00 am, 9:00 am or 10:00 am (the time will be consistent for each child). The children will arrive at the Evaristus Building, either at 10:00 am, 11:00 am or 12:00 pm (but consistent throughout for each child).

Children will fast for 12 hours before breakfast and after breakfast until their arrival, except for water (which will be allowed up to one hour before their arrival).

Each child will receive one glass of sweetened Kool-aid containing sugar or artificial sweetener. The amount of sugar in the drink will be similar to the amount found in common soft drinks.

McCain pizza and spring water (purchased at Sobey's or Atlantic Superstore) will be served 60 min after the children have consumed their beverage. Children will be told that they may eat as little or as much as they like. The amount of food eaten by each child will be measured.

The children will also be requested to complete scales on which they will place a pencil mark to describe their desire to eat ("Very weak" to "Very strong"), hunger ("Not hungry at all" to "As hungry as I've ever felt"), fullness ("Not full at all " to "Very full"), how much food they could eat ("A large amount" to "Nothing at all"), thirst ("Not thirsty at all" to "As thirsty as I ever felt") sweetness of the drinks ("Not sweet at all" to "Extremely sweet"), pleasantness of the preload and pizza ("Not at all Pleasant" to "Very Pleasant", and physical comfort ("Not well at all" to "Very well"). They will complete these scales during the information/screening session, in order to become familiar with the

test instruments.

The children will be fully supervised during the study sessions. The children will be engaged in age appropriate entertainment (as distraction) such as reading, playing puzzles or card games before lunch.

Memory test:

During each session between the consumption of the beverage and eating lunch, your child will be presented with a list of common words to remember. Your child will asked to recall the words both immediately and then after a 15, 30 and 45 min delay, and immediately after lunch. Your child will be given a chance to try the memory test during the information/screening session so they know what to expect.

Eating Behaviour Questionnaire:

If you consent to your child's participation in this experiment, he/she will also be asked to fill out a short questionnaire about their eating habits during the information/screening visit or after one of the food intake sessions. A trained examiner will help your child fill out the questionnaire. The answers will be strictly confidential and will only serve to assist in the analysis of the data collected. Your child may skip any questions of the questionnaire that make them feel uncomfortable.

Confidentiality:

Records relating to subjects will be kept confidential in a locked cabinet in the Department of Applied Human Nutrition and no disclosure of personal information of the children or parents will take place except where required by law. Subjects will have a code and a number that will identify them in all documents, records and files to keep their name confidential. All data will be entered into Microsoft Excel files, available only to investigators. Each participant will have a file, also only available for investigators. All forms and printouts will be stored in the individual files – and clearly labeled. All documents will be kept for a minimum of five years following completion of the study and then securely destroyed.

Benefits:

As the causes of obesity remains undefined, the potential benefits from this study will be a better understanding of the regulation of food intake in children and might contribute to the prevention of obesity in children.

Questions and further information:

If you have any questions or would like further information concerning this research project, please do not hesitate to call: Dr. Nick Bellissimo or Ms. Marissa Van Engelen at (902) 457-6378.

Dissemination of findings:

A summary of results will be made available to you to pick up, or if requested will be sent by mail or e-mail, after the study is completed.

Consent:

I acknowledge that the research procedures described above and of which I have a copy, have been explained to me and that any questions that I have asked have been answered to my satisfaction. I know that I may ask additional questions now or in the future. I am aware that participation in the

study will not involve any health risk to my child.

I understand that for purposes of the research project, if my child or I choose to withdraw from the study at any time, we may do so without prejudice.

Upon completion of each study session, my child will receive a \$10 Empire Theatre gift certificate. I will also receive \$5 to cover transportation costs following each study session. The final summary and results of the study will be available for me to pick up from the Department of Applied Human Nutrition, Mount Saint Vincent University. I am aware that the researchers may publish the study results in scientific journals, keeping confidential my child's identity.

If you have questions about how this study is being conducted and wish to speak with someone who is not directly involved in the study, you may contact the Chair of the University Research Ethics Board (UREB) c/o MSVU Research and International Office, at 457-6350 or via e-mail at research@msvu.ca

I hereby consent for my child,	, to participate in this
study.	

(Name of parent or guardian)

(Signature of parent or guardian)

(Name of witness)

(Signature of witness)

Date: _____ (dd/mm/yy)

Appendix 8.4. Children's Assent Form



Excellence • Innovation • Discovery

Department of Applied Human Nutrition

Effect of Sugars Solutions on Subjective Appetite and Short-Term Food Intake in Children

Children's Assent Form

Purpose of Research:

The purpose of this study is to determine the effects of sugar-sweetened beverages on appetite and memory in children. My weight, height, and body fat will be measured during the information/screening visit. I will also be required to drink a different beverage (within 5 min) each week, and complete special scales to show if I am hungry or full during each session. I will fill-out a short questionnaire about my eating behaviours, and know that I am allowed to skip any questions that may make me feel uncomfortable. The researchers will give me a quick memory test to see how many words I can remember. I will also be provided with a pizza lunch at the end of each study session (that I will eat in the Department of Applied Human Nutrition, Mount Saint Vincent University). All the experimental sessions will be on weekends, so I don't need to be absent from school.

I know that my participation in the study will not involve any health risk to me.

Also, if at any time I decide to stop participating, that will be O.K. I understand that information related to me will be kept confidential. I know that I will receive a \$10 Empire Theatre gift certificate after completion of each study session, as a "thank you" for my participation.

"I was present when ______read this form and gave his/her

Signature

Name of the person who obtained assent:

Date: _____ (dd/mm/yy)

Appendix 8.5. Screening Information Form

SCREENING INFORMATION SESSION – FOOD INTAKE IN CHILDREN

Subject Informati	on		
Name:		Phone #:	
Age: decimal years		DOB (d/m/y):	
Health Status			
Weight:kg	Height:cm	IBW:kg	
IBW: kg			
Skinfold Thicknes	S		
Biceps:mm	n Triceps:mm	Skinfold Sum:mm	
Suprailiac:	mm Subscapular:	_mm Fat Mass:%	
Include in study?			
(Y/N)	If yes, subject #:	Subject code:	
If not, why?			
Forms Completed	?		
Food acceptability	list completed? (Y/N)		
Consent/assent form	ms signed? (Y/N)		
Dutch Eating Beha	viour Questionnaire? (Y/N)		
Practice word recal	ll (Y/N)		
Standardized break	fast given for next session? (Y	/N)	
BEVERAGE			
At all study session	s, your child will receive a swe	eet beverage. Please indicate whether your child	
will be able to drin	k a sweet beverage provided at	each session. (Y/N)	
LUNCH			
The child will be p	rovided with a pizza meal the d	ay of the study. To enable us to provide your	
child with a meal th	nat they will enjoy, which type	of pizza should we serve? Pepperoni/Cheese?	
Name of parent/gua	ardian:		
Investigator:			
Date (d/m/y):			
Start date and time:	·		

Appendix 8.6. Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire

Dutch Eating Behaviour Questionnaire

Please read each question and circle the appropriate response.

1. If you have put on weight, do you eat less than you usually do? Never Seldom Sometimes Often Very often 2. Do you try to eat less at meal times than you would like to eat? Never Seldom Sometimes Often Very often 3. How often do you refuse food or drink offered because you are concerned about your weight? Never Seldom Sometimes Often Very often 4. Do you watch exactly what you eat? Never Seldom Sometimes Often Very often 5. Do you deliberately eat foods that are slimming? Never Seldom Sometimes Often Very often 6. When you have eaten too much, do you eat less than usual the following day? Never Seldom Sometimes Often Very often 7. Do you deliberately eat less in order not to become heavier? Seldom Sometimes Never Often Very often 8. How often do you try not to eat between meals because you are watching your weight? Never Seldom Sometimes Often Very often 9. How often in the evenings do you try not to eat because you are watching your weight? Seldom Sometimes Often Very often Never 10. When you eat, do you take into account what you weigh? Seldom Sometimes Very often Never Often 11. Do you have the desire to eat when you are irritated? Never Seldom Sometimes Often Very often 12. Do you have the desire to eat when you have nothing to do? Seldom Sometimes Never Often Very often

13. Do you have the desire to eat when you are depressed or discouraged?				
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
14. Do you ha	ve a desire to e	at when you are	feeling lonely	?
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
15. Do you ha	ve a desire to e	at when someboo	dy lets you do	own?
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
16. Do you ha	ve a desire to e	at when you are	angry?	
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
17. Do you ha	ve a desire to e	at when you are	expecting sor	nething unpleasant to happen?
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
18. Do you ge	t the desire to e	eat when you are	anxious, wor	ried or tense?
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
19. Do you ha	ve a desire to e	at when things a	e going agair	nst you or when things have gone wrong?
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
20. Do you ha	ve a desire to e	at when you are	frightened?	
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
21. Do you ha	ve the desire to	eat when you ar	e disappointe	d?
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
22. Do you ha	ve a desire to e	at when you are	bored or restle	ess?
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
23. Do you have a desire to eat when you are emotionally upset?				
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
24. If food tastes good to you, do you eat more than usual?				
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
25. If food smells and looks good to you, do you eat more than usual?				
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often
26. If you see or smell something delicious, do you have the desire to eat it?				

Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often	
27. If you have	e something de	licious to eat, do	you eat it stra	ight away?	
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often	
28. If you wall	k past the baker	r, do you have the	e desire to bu	y something delicious?	
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often	
29. If you wall	k past a snack b	oar or a cafe, do y	ou have the c	lesire to buy something delicious?	
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often	
30. If you see	30. If you see others eating, do you also have the desire to eat?				
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often	
31. Can you resist eating delicious foods?					
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often	
32. Do you eat more than usual when you see others eating?					
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often	
33. When your mother or father is preparing a meal, are you inclined to eat something?					
Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Very often	

Appendix 8.7. Feeding Session Cover Sheet

Feeding Session Cover Sheet Department of Applied Human Nutrition, Mount Saint Vincent University

Food Intake Control in Children

Subject ID:		Session:		
Date:				
Baseline Questionnaire (to	be asked by investigate	or)		
1. Have you had the standa	ardized breakfast this m	orning?		YES/NO
2. At what time did you ha	we the standardized brea	akfast?		
3. Have you had anything	to eat or drink for 10 - 1	2 hours before brea	ıkfast?	YES/NO
	If yes, please describe briefly			
4. Have you had anything	to eat or drink after brea	akfast before arrivin	g here?	YES/NO
	If yes, please describe briefly			
5. Are you taking any med	lication?			YES/NO
	If yes, please describe briefly			
Comments/Notes:				

Appendix 8.8. Study Day Test Package

STUDY DAY TEST PACKAGE

- VAS Motivation to Eat
- VAS Physical Comfort
- VAS Perceived Sweetness
- VAS Pleasantness (preload beverage)
- VAS Pleasantness (pizza lunch)

Appendix 8.8.1. Motivation to Eat Visual Analogue Scale

Time =

Visual Analogue Scale Motivation to Eat

DATE: _____

ID:

These questions relate to your "motivation to eat" at this time. Please rate yourself by placing a small "x" across the horizontal line at the point which best reflects your present feelings.

1. How strong is your desire to eat?	
Very WEAK	Very STRONG
2. How hungry do you feel?	
NOT Hungry at all	As hungry as I have ever felt
3. How full do you feel?	
NOT Fullat all	VERY Full
4. How much food do you think you could eat?	
NOTHING at all	A LARGE amount
5. How thirsty do you feel?	
NOT	As thirsty

NOT	As thirsty
thirsty	as I have
at all	ever felt

Appendix 8.8.2. Physical Comfort Visual Analogue Scale

Time =

Visual Analogue Scale Physical Comfort

DATE: _____

ID: _____

These questions relate to your "physical comfort" at this time. Please rate yourself by placing a small "x" across the horizontal line at the point which best reflects your present feelings.

How well do you feel?

NOT	VERY
well	Well
at all	

Appendix 8.8.3. Sweetness Visual Analogue Scale

Time =

Visual Analogue Scale Sweetness

Subject ID: _____

Date:

Please rate the level of sweetness by placing a small "x" across the horizontal line at the point which best reflects your present feelings.

How sweet have you found the beverage?

NOT	Extremely
sweet	sweet
at all	

Appendix 8.8.4. Preload Pleasantness Visual Analogue Scale

Time =

Visual Analogue Scale Pleasantness of Preload

DATE: _____

ID:_____

This question relates to the palatability of the drink you just consumed. Please rate the pleasantness of the beverage by placing a small " \mathbf{x} " across the horizontal line at the point which best reflects your present feelings.

How pleasant have you found the preload?

NOT	Very
at all	pleasant
pleasant	

Appendix 8.8.5. Test Meal Pleasantness Visual Analogue Scale

Time =

Visual Analogue Scale Pleasantness of Test Meal

DATE: _____

ID: _____

This question relates to the palatability of the food you just consumed. Please rate the pleasantness of the food by placing a small "x" across the horizontal line at the point which best reflects your present feelings.

How pleasant have you found the food?

NOT	Very
at all	pleasant
pleasant	